Universitat de Girona Facultat de Medicina e-mail: PLCmfranco@gmail.com tel: +34 644209240

# Anatomical description of the posterolateral corner of the knee

A descriptive study based on cadaveric dissection and E12 sheet plastination

A final undergraduate paper by Marc Franco

Tutored by Francisco Reina, M.D., Ph.D.

Medical School, University of Girona Academic course 2020-2021

### Universitat de Girona Departament de Ciències Mèdiques

**Francisco Reina de la Torre,** Professor Titular del Departament de Ciències Mèdiques de la Universitat de Girona i co-director del grup de recerca d'Anatomia Clínica, Embriologia i Neurociència (NEOMA),

**Certifico que:** el treball de final de Grau titulat "Anatomical description of the posterolateral corner of the knee. A descriptive study based on cadavèric dissection and E12 sheet plastination", presentat pel Sr. **Marc Franco Moral**, ha estat desenvolupat sota la meva direcció i compleix els requisits per a ser presentat i defensat.

I perquè així consti a tots els efectes oportuns, signo el present document a Girona a dia 6 de novembre de 2020.

Dr. Francisco Reina de la Torre

I would like to express my deepest appreciation to the tutor of this project Francisco Reina, Ph.D., M.D. and to Anna Carrera Ph.D., M.D. for their invaluable insight into anatomy and the esteem for its study, for their commitment and unparalleled support and, most of all, for their profound belief in my work.

I would also like to extend my deepest gratitude to Marçal Asso Climent for his insightful, always constructive, suggestions; to Míriam Hidalgo for her always determined will to help; and to Núria Singh for making our team a team. It has been a pleasure working with all of you.

I would also like to express my sincere gratitude to my family, both the present and those in loving memory; fellow students and colleagues, friends, for always being there; and to Núria. For standing next to me here, like this, and for always (always) knowing.

At last but not least, this project and the discipline of medicine and anatomy learning would not be possible without the participation of those people that, on behalf of knowledge, decide to donate their body to science. As researchers, we will always be deeply indebted to them.

#### Abbreviations

AC: articular cartilage

ACL: anterior cruciate ligament

**BF:** biceps femoris muscle

CH2Cl2; Me2Cl2; MeCl: dichloromethane

Cp: (joint) capsule

**CPn:** common peroneal nerve

Fe: femur

Fi: fibula

Gst: gastrocnemius muscle

ITT: iliotibial tract; iliotibial band

LCL: lateral collateral ligament; fibular collateral ligament

LM: lateral meniscus

mLCL: midthird lateral capsular ligament

PLC: posterolateral corner

PLm: peroneus longus muscle

**PFL**: popliteofibular ligament

**PM:** popliteus muscle

PT: popliteus tendon

Sm: soleus muscle

Ti: tibia

TP: tibial plateau

### Index of figures

#### Introduction / Justification

Figure 1 – PLC's anatomy presented in layers, Maynard <i>et al</i> (drawing)	4
Figure 2 – anterolateral ligament, Vincent et al (drawing)	6

#### Materials and methods

Figure 3 – general view of the PLC of a left knee	12
Figure 4 – biceps femoris muscle's tendon, left knee	13
Figure 5 – biceps femoris muscle's tendon and LCL, left knee	13
Figure 6 – reflection of the popliteus muscle	14
Figure 7 – inside-out observation of the joint	14
Figure 7-A – right knee	14
Figure 7-B – left knee	14
Figure 8 – damaged coronal slice and computer-aided reconstruction	15

#### Results

Figure 9 – microdissectional findings on LCL 22
Figure 10 – E12 (Biodur®) sheet plastination findings on LCL, coronal section
Figure 11 – E12 (Biodur®) sheet plastination findings on LCL, sequential axial sections 24
Figure 12 – microdissectional findings on PT 25
Figure 13 – E12 (Biodur®) sheet plastination findings on PT, sequential axial sections 26
Figure 14 – E12 (Biodur <sup>®</sup> ) sheet plastination findings on PT, coronal section
Figure 15 – microdissectional findings on PFL (1) 29
Figure 16 – microdissectional findings on PFL (2) 30
Figure 17 – E12 (Biodur®) sheet plastination findings on PFL, axial section
Figure 18 – E12 (Biodur®) sheet plastination findings on PFL, coronal section
Figure 19 – microdissectional findings on mLCL
Figure 20 – E12 (Biodur®) sheet plastination findings on mLCL, axial section
Figure 21 – E12 (Biodur®) sheet plastination findings on PT, sequential coronal sections 34
Figure 22 – E12 (Biodur®) sheet plastination findings on PT, coronal section (enlargement) 35

#### Limitations of the study and future directions

igure 23 – 3D reconstruction of the PLC 41
--

#### Index of tables

#### Introduction / Justification

Fable 1 – PLC's components
----------------------------

#### Materials and methods

Table 2 – technical details of the specimens	. 11
Table 3 – summarized protocol for E12 (Biodur <sup>®</sup> ) epoxy slices	. 16
Table 4 – calculation of components proportions to mixture E12/E1 (Biodur®)	. 18

#### Limitations of the study and future directions

Table 5 – sample comparison in studies that use E12 (Biodur®) plastination technique ...... 43

#### Index of addenda

#### Addendum |

Request form for body donation to science, Faculty of Medicine, Univ. of Girona...... 58

#### Addendum II

Permission and agreements with Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center for	
use of figures 1 and 2 6	0

#### Addendum III

Images of the preparation of specimens for the E12 (Biodur®) plastination process ... 66

### Table of contents

Abstract	1
Introduction / Justification	2
The anatomy of the posterolateral corner (PLC) of the knee	1
Superficial layer: iliotibial tract and biceps femoris	1
Middle layer: patellar retinaculum	1
Deep layer: lateral collateral ligament, popliteus tendon, popliteofibular ligament and secondary stabilisers	5
Justification of the plastination technique	7
Hypothesis and objectives	Э
Materials and methods	)
Cadaveric materials10	)
Ethics	)
Technical details	כ
Anatomical study by macro and microdissection1	1
Dissection procedure of the posterolateral corner12	2
Anatomical study of the PLC by sequential slicing with E12 (Biodur®) sheet-plastination	
technique	
Results	L
Lateral collateral ligament (fibular collateral ligament)22	1
Popliteus muscle and popliteus tendon29	5
Popliteofibular ligament	3
Midthird lateral capsular ligament	2
Discussion	5
Limitations of the study and future directions42	1
Conclusions	5
Bibliography	5
Addenda	3

#### Abstract

**Background:** major traumatisms affecting the knee usually associate posterolateral instability, which makes difficult the recovery of other lesions such as anterior cruciate ligament avulsion. The more anatomical the reconstruction of the posterolateral stabilisers the better biomechanical outcome is achieved. In order to provide an accurate diagnoses and treatment, basic knowledge must be pursued, being anatomy the first stage on a multi-specialist approach.

**Objectives:** to perform a precise description of the major stabilisers of the posterolateral corner of the knee, these being the lateral collateral ligament, the popliteus tendon and the popliteofibular ligament. A structure related to the capsule will be studied independently in order to determine its existence and components, defined by some as a midthird lateral capsular ligament or an anterolateral ligament.

**Design:** descriptive observational exploratory study, based on a series of cases.

**Methods:** macro and microdissection was performed on three fresh human knee specimens. E12 sheet plastination technique was applied to two more fresh human knees. Slices were then scanned with a 4K high definition scan for up-close study.

**Results:** all four structures were identified by dissection and also by sheet plastination. A description of each of them could be specified. Connexions between the popliteus tendon and the fibula have been demonstrated. Fibrous tissue compatible with the socalled midthird lateral capsular ligament was expressly reported.

**Conclusions:** combined use of macro-microdissection technique and E12 (Biodur<sup>®</sup>) sheet plastination have allowed us a better comprehension of the complex anatomy of the posterolateral compartment of the knee. Nevertheless, our sample value needs to be increased in order to corroborate our results and to evidence possible anatomical variations that may need to be taken into account.

**Keywords:** human anatomy, E12 sheet plastination, posterolateral knee compartment, lateral collateral ligament, popliteofibular ligament, midthird lateral capsular ligament.

#### Introduction / Justification

For at least a century and a half there has been a special interest in the study of the structures conforming the posterolateral aspect of the knee<sup>1</sup>. For the last years many authors have coincided on considering the posterolateral corner (PLC) of the knee as the "dark side"<sup>2–6</sup> of it, as knowledge about it is constantly evolving and authors do not seem to get to an agreement about the "gaps" its investigation leads to. PLC first recent description, being the one laid down in the *Nomina anatomica*<sup>7</sup>, is non-exempt of polemic, as at least one of the structures that make up the PLC was omitted (as a contemporaneous author reported)<sup>8</sup> and lead to confusion for the next decades. This could explain the great amount of studies regarding the anatomy and biomechanics of the region that have been published recently on high impact anatomical, orthopaedic and radiological journals.

This area of study cannot be easily delimited, as its structures extend anteriorly up to Gerdy's tubercle of the tibia or beyond, and cover part of the posterior region with a deep relationship with the popliteus fossa. It would be a mistake to consider the anatomical region as the posterolateral quarter on a single axial vision, as the elements conforming it establish delicate and complex relationships with structures that cover the whole articulation (for instance the articular capsule or the patellar retinaculum)<sup>9</sup>.

The specific interest in studying the PLC of the knee implicates both the functional importance and clinical impact of this area. Injuries that involve this complex result from traumatisms which associate high-enery<sup>10</sup>, and so PLC's injuries are found on patients who also present other ligament tears. Injuries to the PLC which relate to chronic rotatory instability associate a tear in the anterior cruciate ligament and/or the posterior cruciate ligament on the 80% of the cases<sup>11</sup>. Anatomical description is becoming more relevant as a precise diagnoses of the lesions is gaining terrain in order to plan a specific surgical reconstruction. Both anatomical diagnoses and reconstruction are considered essential for a correct functional recovery and in the resolution of the posterolateral instability present in most subjects who have suffered a lesion in some of the structures of the posterolateral aspect of the knee<sup>12</sup>. Therapy starts with diagnosis, and precise diagnose is essential for a proper management of

2

any lesion. Therefore, the more precise the anatomical description of the PLC the easier should be the orientation of treatment by an orthopaedic surgeon, radiologist or physiotherapist.

The PLC of the knee includes some anatomical structures that have been widely studied and others whose definition is controversial due to results published recently (**Table 1**).

	Primary stabilisers <sup>6</sup>	Secondary stabilisers <sup>13</sup>
Superficial layer		lliotibial band
		Long head of the biceps femoris
Middle layer		Patellar retinaculum
Deep layer	Lateral (fibular) collateral ligament	Lateral gastrocnemius tendon
	Popliteus tendon*	Mid-third lateral capsular ligament
	Popliteofibular ligament*	Coronary ligament
		Arcuate ligament
	*the popliteus muscle, the popliteus	Fabellofibular ligament
	tendon and the popliteofibular	Short head of the biceps femoris'
	ligament have been described as a	tendon
	whole popliteus musculotendinous complex <sup>6</sup>	

**Table 1** – Components of the posterolateral corner (PLC) of the knee classified according to layered anatomy proposed by Seebacher *et al*<sup>14</sup>.

In a practical approach, the anatomical study of the PLC is useful and has modified the techniques of surgical reconstruction along time. The most popular reconstructive technique is the one described by LaPrade *et al*, which reconstructs individually each of the three main elements of the PLC, these being the lateral collateral ligament (LCL), the popliteus tendon (PT) and the popliteofibular ligament (PFL)<sup>15</sup>. When facing a lesion of the PLC, anatomic reconstruction is biomechanically superior to any non-anatomic method, although it does not exist (yet) any reconstruction technique capable to emulate the ligament forces and contact stresses under normal conditions<sup>16</sup>. It can be assumed that the more precise our knowledge on the anatomy of this area is, the better will be the outcomes achieved by any reconstructive technique.

#### The anatomy of the posterolateral corner (PLC) of the knee

Seebacher *et al.* proposed a characterisation of the posterolateral elements in three levels or layers, these being the superficial layer, the middle layer and the deep layer<sup>14</sup> (**Figure 1**). Description of the anatomical elements follows:



**Figure 1** – Diagram presenting the main elements of the posterolateral corner and surrounding structures. Note how the midthird lateral capsular ligament is missing and the lateral collateral ligament has been sectioned for a better view of structures underneath. Reproduced from Maynard *et al*<sup>17</sup> according to conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center (RightsLink<sup>®</sup>), partner of Springer Nature Publications (See Addendum 2).

# Superficial layer: iliotibial tract and biceps femoris

The superficial layer is found just below the skin and fat tissue. The iliotibial tract (or iliotibial band) is described in classical anatomic textbooks as a thickening of the fascia lata on the lateral side of the thigh<sup>18</sup> from which the lateral intermuscular septum origins (as it represents its insertion to the femur). It covers anteriorly the axis of flexion and is inserted laterally into the Gerdy's tubercle.

The biceps femoris is made up by two muscular bellies (short and long). Whereas the short head has little impact onto the PLC stability, the long head's tendon has a greater role both anatomically and biomechanically, partly due to its relationship with the distal end of the lateral collateral ligament<sup>13</sup>. It attaches to the apex of the fibular head. Whether it has its own insertion or merges with the LCL in a common attachment to the fibula is a matter of discussion.

#### Middle layer: patellar retinaculum

The middle layer consists solely of the patellar retinaculum. This structure is defined by vertical and oblique fibres that origin from the tendinous insertion of the vastus lateralis muscle and vastus medialis muscle. This fibrous structure attaches to the lateral and medial borders of the patella and covers part of the capsule. It has a minor

role in PLC's stability. Classical descriptions of the joint capsule resemble the one we now relate to the patellar retinaculum, depicting different "reinforcement structures of the capsule" being the femoral aponeurosis, the quadricipital expansion and the patellae retinacula, both lateral and medial<sup>19</sup>. Nevertheless, these are distinct structures and must not be confused<sup>9</sup>.

## Deep layer: lateral collateral ligament, popliteus tendon, popliteofibular ligament and secondary stabilisers

The three major stabilisers of the posterolateral aspect of the knee are found under the patellar retinaculum, these being the lateral or fibular collateral ligament (LCL), the popliteus tendon (PT) and the popliteofibular ligament (PFL)<sup>15</sup>.

The LCL is described as a fibrous cylindrical structure found attached to the lateral epicondyle of the femur and to the lateral aspect of the head of the fibula, on its distal third. It is considered as the primary varus-stabiliser of the knee<sup>20</sup>. As mentioned above, its relationship with the long head of the biceps femoris at its insertion is unclear. While some authors describe both structures conjoining in a common attachment<sup>21</sup>, other publications defend they present different insertion sites and must be considered independent from one another<sup>22</sup>.

The PT is considered independently from the popliteus muscle, although some authors describe the PT, the popliteus muscle and the PFL as a whole structure named popliteus musculotendinous complex<sup>23,24</sup>. The popliteus tendon goes intracapsular but stays extrasynovial<sup>23</sup>. It attaches on the lateral epicondyle, just under the attachments of the capsule itself, and its muscular body has its insertion on the popliteus muscle include a "meniscal origin" of the tendon, characterised into the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus<sup>25</sup>. Nevertheless, the exact interconnection between both structures is discussed, and a description in which the popliteus tendon does not relate to the meniscus has also been classically proposed<sup>26</sup>.

The last main structure of the deep layer is a ligament that attaches the popliteus muscle (near to its musculotendinous junction) to the head of the fibula. Despite being described as a major stabilizer of the PLC<sup>27</sup>, it has also been stated that this

popliteofibular ligament would only play a major role in the posterolateral stability if there coexists a tear on the lateral collateral ligament<sup>17</sup>. Some of the descriptions of this structure coincide on defining the ligament as two-fasciculate, but even those

disagree on their nature or disposition<sup>17,29,30</sup>. Its possible attachments to the capsule and even the lateral meniscus (through a lateral meniscotibial ligament)<sup>31</sup> are also a matter of discussion.

By its disposition, the secondary stabilisers can be classified as part of the deep layer. These structures include the lateral gastrocnemius tendon, the coronary ligament (which the posterior segment of the lateral meniscus to the tibia), the arcuate ligament, the fabellofibular ligament and the short head of the biceps femoris. Minor stabilizers of this region will not be addressed on this paper, because despite also rising a considerable amount of polemic, their clinical relevance has not been yet stated.



**Figure 2** – this diagram presents the position of the hypothetical anterolateral ligament, understood as a thickening of the capsule. Reprinted by permission from Copyright Clearance Center RightsLink®: Springer Nature. <u>Knee surgery, sports traumatology,</u> <u>arthroscopy. Vincent et al<sup>28</sup>, 2012.</u>

Nevertheless, a structure also described as a secondary stabiliser needs to be studied as its existence and characterisation are still in doubt, as it does not appear in classical anatomy books but has been recently described instead<sup>21,32</sup>. A thickening of the capsule can be found at the lateral aspect of the knee<sup>33</sup>, and this finding has been described by different authors with different terms: anterolateral ligament<sup>34</sup> (**Figure 2**), meniscofibular ligament<sup>35</sup>, lateral arcuate ligament<sup>23</sup>, midthird lateral capsular ligament<sup>36</sup>... They all have been described as a thickening of or next to the lateral capsule. We decided to approach this lateral capsular thickening on the basis of this latter description of a midthird lateral capsular ligament, which attaches both to the femur and the tibia. Consequently, classical descriptions of the elements present in the PLC are nowadays questioned by the scientific literature. Limits of the area, attachment sites and relationships between structures have been studied in an attempt to redefine the anatomy considering its possible relevance in knee's biomechanics. This study addresses the main differences signalled by modern literature and its intern disagreements.

#### Justification of the plastination technique

Systematic reviews of studies regarding the posterolateral corner of the knee focus on the clinical outcomes of knee injuries<sup>37,38</sup>. Methodological reviews for the anatomical study of the region are not available, and so it is not easy to determine which approaches have been taken into the description of the anatomical region. Although it cannot be precisely concluded, the natural evolution of the anatomical study regarding this location seems to start on anatomical dissection, followed radiological imaging (including MRI and CT) and recently with the addition of histological studies of specific elements of the PLC, or other techniques such as direct arthroscopic observation. Taking into account that the structures studied are extremely closely related, and can be confused or mixed up at plain sight, anatomical dissection could not be the best approach for this region. The extension of the region makes it difficult to use conventional histologic techniques in its study. Nevertheless, this approach has been proposed in some studies with foetal population, although their results are not precise<sup>5</sup>.

The present study introduces a technique that although used in many publications regarding the musculoskeletal tissue has never been applied to the study of the PLC of the human knee, to the best of our knowledge. In addition to a microdissectional study with magnifying glass of three lower limbs, two knees have been processed with the E12 (Biodur<sup>®</sup>) sheet plastination. This technique has been previously used in the study of the neurovascular structures of the medial aspect of the knee<sup>39</sup>, and proved to be useful in the anatomical study of the joint.

E12 sheet plastination can be considered a midpoint between the gross dissection and the histological preparation, as it offers the researcher vast accuracy of studied elements, especially connective tissue, but maintains the original anatomical relationships, as the shrinking is way minor than the one produced by histological means<sup>40</sup>. It consists in the plastination (term used to identify the technique which permits the preservation of tissues by replacing its water content by a polymerasable resin<sup>41</sup>) of sequential slices of an anatomical region, following a desired axis (coronal, sagittal, transverse or oblique) or a structure of interest. This permits the study of every element independently but also considering and preserving the structures surrounding it.

The role of laminar or cross-section anatomy has been widely used to better understand topographical anatomy when classical descriptions were not conclusive<sup>42</sup>. Semithin sheets/slices have been used in the interpretation of images obtained via CT or MRI <sup>43–45</sup>, and students and residents trained with this anatomical approach are proven to perform better when confronting a diagnostic image analysis<sup>46,47</sup>.

More recently, use of sheet plastination technique has been applied to threedimensional reconstruction technology<sup>48</sup> by superposition of the slices. 3D reconstruction could help understanding areas of study for residents or guide surgeons during their operations<sup>49,50</sup>, and may even modify existing surgical techniques<sup>51</sup>. The objectives of this study do not include three-dimensional reconstruction, as it could imply performing other investigations based on computational reconstruction. Nevertheless, a quite simple reconstruction will be added as a sample in the "Limitations of the study and future directions" section, presenting the wide possibilities of this approach.

#### Hypothesis and objectives

Hypothesis: "combined use of both microdissection and E12 (Biodur<sup>®</sup>) sheet plastination techniques in the study of the posterolateral corner of the knee provides a new approach to the present anatomical description of the region".

Therefore and previously justified, the main objective of this study is resumed as:

- **To precise the description** of the posterolateral corner of the knee anatomy focusing on the *knowledge gaps* or incongruences described in the literature.

From this objective, four independent sub-objectives are presented, derived from the mentioned focused subject:

- To precise the description of the anatomical relationship between the biceps femoris muscle's tendon and the distal attachment of the lateral collateral ligament.
- **To precise the description** of the anatomical relationship between the popliteus tendon and its surrounding structures, with specific interest in the lateral meniscus.
- **To precise the description** of the components of the popliteo-fibular ligamentous fibres.
- **To determine the existence** of a lateral structure related or not to the capsule compatible with the *lateral midthird capsular ligament*.

#### Materials and methods

This project has been performed entirely in the Laboratory for Human Anatomy of the Clinical Anatomy, Embryology, Neuroscience Research Group (NEOMA) from the Medical Sciences Department of the University of Girona.

#### Cadaveric materials

For the development of the present work a total of five knees have been used. The anatomical samples were obtained from three donated cadavers belonging to the Body Donation Program of the University of Girona, managed by the Human Anatomy Area of the Faculty of Medicine. Ages of the specimens were comprised between sixty-two and eighty-four years old (**Table 2**). None of the subjects presented surgery antecedents on the knee area and any of the knees had been used in previous studies.

#### <u>Ethics</u>

This work contemplates the provisions of the Declaration of Helsinki in 1995 (revised in Brazil in 2013). All the specimens came from the voluntary Body Donation Program of the University of Girona. This program complies with the legal and ethical framework governing body donation procedures in our country. Furthermore, it is in accordance both with the International Federation Association of Anatomists (IFAA) guidelines<sup>52</sup> and with the Spanish Anatomical Society recommendations<sup>53</sup>. Thus, cadaveric materials for this study were obtained from individuals who donated in life their bodies to the benefit of research and university teaching (Annex /Addendum 1). Conditions, legal issues and ethics can be consulted on the University's website<sup>54</sup>.

#### Technical details

Samples used in this project had been preserved differently according to the procedure they were set aside for. To perform the microdissectional study, three specimens were preserved by freezing at -25°C (248K) after intravascular injection of coloured natural latex for a better identification of the vascular tree. Specimens destined to the sheet plastination study were preserved at -80°C (193K) and no latex injection was performed.

Specimen	Left/Right	Sex	Age	Injection	Preserving technique	Use
Leg I	Left	Male	62 yo	Yes	Frosting at -25°C (248K)	Macro and micro dissection
Leg II	Right	Male	62 yo	Yes	Frosting at -25°C (248K	Macro and micro dissection
Leg III	Right	Female	84 yo	Yes	Frosting at -25°C (248K	Macro and micro dissection
Leg IV	Right	Male	75 yo	No	Frosting at -80ºC (193K)	E12 (Biodur <sup>®</sup> ) sheet plastination
Leg V	Left	Male	75 yo	No	Frosting at -80°C (193K)	E12 (Biodur <sup>®</sup> ) sheet plastination

Table 2 – technical details of specimens used in this project.

#### Anatomical study by macro and microdissection

Cadaveric dissection and microdissection of the posterolateral compartment was performed through a surgical microscope (KARL KAPS <sup>®</sup> SOM 62 G-Nr 18406) on fresh (not fixed) legs, from which knees I, II and III were obtained.

Before microdissection, the vascular tree of specimens was injected with coloured natural latex. The technique is performed by the injection of a mixture of liquid latex (black coloured) through a catheter secured proximally in the femoral artery. The artery will be exposed by meticulous dissection, and the catheter should be attached with surgical thread. The injection must be pulsating, using a 10cc syringe. To prevent small vessels from breaking and ensuring their dye, injection must keep a constant and low pressure<sup>55</sup>. Injection is complete when extravasation of the liquid is observed on the toes capillaries, where previously an incision has been performed with a scalpel. In case the extravasation falls through, injection process must continue even if there is an extravasation through the femoral vein, at a proximal level. This signals free passage and dye of the major vessels, but does not ensure that the treatment is reaching smaller vessels or capillaries. Experience shows to be recommended to put a clamp on the vein and to keep on with the artery injection.

Once injection is complete, the limb will be frozen for at least 48 hours for the dye to set.<sup>55</sup> Previous to the dissection the preparation must be unfrozen. Room-temperature defrosting is recommended, although in order to better preserve the tissues the

preferred thawing temperature would be 2°C (275K)<sup>56</sup>, what we consider a refrigeration temperature.

High definition photography is used to document dissection findings in all of its stages. The camera used is a NIKON D5100, with Nikkor 18-200mm and Nikkor 69mm lenses. Images have been corrected computationally (program used was Adobe<sup>®</sup> Photoshop CC 2019<sup>57</sup>).

#### Dissection procedure of the posterolateral corner

#### Starting the dissection: skin and subcutaneous tissue

An operation window was opened on the lateral aspect of the knee, fifteen centimetres proximal and ten centimetres distal to the head of the fibula (which can be identified by palpation).

#### Identifying the structures below the crural fascia

Once the fat tissue is moved away, the crural fascia must be cut and retracted, presenting deep structures. At this point, the superficial stabilisers of the posterolateral corner can be identified (long head of biceps femoris and iliotibial tract). The lateral collateral ligament can be perceived under the tissue between these muscles, but cannot be seen.

Muscles and neurovascular structures located near the posterolateral corner are identified: peroneus longus muscle, extensor digitorum longus muscle, plantaris muscle and lateral head of the



**Figure 3** – general view of the posterolateral aspect of a left knee.

gastrocnemius muscle, tibial nerve and common peroneal nerve, lateral sural cutaneous nerve and saphenous vein (Figure 3).

#### Hoisting of the biceps femoris and retraction of the iliotibial tract



**Figure 4** – the long head of the biceps femoris is sectioned and hoisted to present its relationship with the lateral collateral ligament. Left knee.

Next step includes sectioning of the biceps femoris muscle proximal to the lateral epicondyle of the femur. It will be retracted distally to unveil its intern face and its tendinous junction to the fibular head. At this point we can observe the lateral collateral ligament uncovered. The popliteus tendon is also visible, partly covered by the joint capsule and the gastrocnemius muscle (**Figure 4**).

The iliotibial tract is then retracted medially, in order to uncover the joint capsule. Vastus lateralis muscle is sectioned up to the window's proximal limit.

Other structures are also visible: popliteus vein, popliteus artery (from which sprouts the lateral superior and inferior genicular arteries) and the capsule itself.

#### Dissection of the superficial layer of the biceps femoris'

#### <u>muscle</u>

The tendon of the long head of the biceps femoris is identified and differentiated from the lateral collateral ligament. They are separated to make visible the unaltered path of the lateral collateral ligament and its insertion **(Figure 5)**.



**Figure 5** – the tendon of the long head of the biceps femoris is differentiated from the lateral collateral ligament. Left knee.

#### Deep dissection: popliteus relations and attachments

Next step includes disinsertion of the popliteus muscle from the tibia. It will then be stretched and everted proximally in order to display connective tissue between the tendon and the fibula's head (**Figure 6**).

#### Inside-out dissection

To identify the capsular connections with the popliteus tendon and the lateral meniscus, an inside-out approach is proposed. A sagittal cut will be performed along the midsagittal plane of the whole specimen (**Figure 7**).

Pictures will be taken from the medial face of the lateral portion of the capsule. To prevent it from covering the posterior attachments and structures from an antero-medial vision, the lateral condyle of the femur is sawed off.



**Figure 6** – the popliteus muscle is disinserted from the tibia and is retracted proximally to show its connections with surrounding structures. Left knee.



**Figure 7** – both A and B demonstrate an inside-out approach of the anatomy, depicting the intraarticular elements and their connections and relationship with surrounding structures. A: right knee. B: left knee.



# Anatomical study of the PLC by sequential slicing with E12 (Biodur<sup>®</sup>) sheet-plastination technique

Knees IV and V were processed using the E12 (Biodur<sup>®</sup>) sheet-plastination technique. E12 is a polymerisable epoxy resin, registered and commercialised by "BIODUR<sup>®</sup> GmbH Products & Services, Polymers, Equipment & Auxiliaries for Plastination" (Heildelberg, Germany). It is used for preservation of semithin anatomical sections between 1-3 millimetres thick.

Sheet-plastination technique consists of five stages or steps: specimen preparation, dehydration, degreasing or defatting, forced impregnation and curing<sup>58–61</sup>. The whole process will take at least 17 days (**Table 3**). Due to the volume of slices the process had to be doubled but could be partially overlapped. It took 33 days from start to finish obtaining, process and scanning all the slices. We obtained a total amount of 110 semithin anatomical slices, from which five had to be discarded as they



**Figure 8** – Damaged slice. The reconstruction offered (right) by superposition of the immediately previous slice emulates the anatomical region (popliteus muscle and tendon) but the area corresponding to the popliteofibular ligament had been lost during the preparation of the sample.

presented irreparable structural damage that made them useless for our study (Figure 8).

#### Specimen preparation

The desired specimen must be frozen at -80°C (193K) at the desired anatomical position. This temperature is achieved on specialised freezers, and the anatomical parts need to be freezing for 3-5 days to achieve a uniform state. Knees IV and V were obtained from the same unfixed individual, which had been freezing at -80°C (193K) for five days.

Once the temperature is reached, sawing process can be started. A butcher band saw will be used for this process. To avoid the rise on the temperature, it was decided to use liquid nitrogen, which maintains a temperature of -195°C (78K), applied with a 60-

70 mm paintbrush directly on the saw and on the knee immediately before slicing and between slices. In addition, a guide stop cooled for 12+ hours at -80°C (193K) was added between the inox guide and the saw. Liquid nitrogen will also be applied to the guide stop. Slices of 1'50 mm were obtained, with a loss of tissue between slices of 0'70 mm (saw width). For a precise measurement of the slices, the saw was set every five cuts using an electronic calliper.

Knee IV was sliced on the coronal (frontal) plane, while axial (transversal) slices were obtained from knee V. Recently sawn slices are normally covered with a layer of tissue detritus on each side. These shavings need to be removed. Otherwise they will artefact the finished preparation. Saw-dust removing was performed immediately after every slice was obtained, each of which was submerged on cold acetone (-25°C; 248K) to avoid thawing of the slice, and brushed with small 10-20 mm paintbrushes.

Clean slices must be packaged while frozen. This packages permit stacking and stabilizing the sawn tissue during dehydration, degreasing and forced impregnation. In addition, packages can be marked for a better identification and order of contained slices. BIODUR<sup>®</sup> polymer gauze and polymer grids were used (acetone and dichloromethane resistant). Gauzes are used between single slices, while grids are used on top and bottom of each package. Packages are then settled with a stabilizing grid, which can contain up to four packages of 5 to 7 slices each. In total, 23 coronal and 87 axial slices were obtained.

Day 0 Fi					
	reezing at -80°C (193K) of				
fr	esh cadaver (not fixed)				
Day 1 Sl	ice and clean sawdust from				
	ices				
In	nmerse slices in first -25°C				
	248K) acetone bath (>90%)				
Day 4 In	nmerse slices in second -25ºC				
(2	248K) acetone bath (100%)				
Day 7 In	nmerse slices in third -25º				
(2	248K) acetone bath (100%)				
	/arming up of the third bath				
10* u	p to room temperature.				
	egreasing at room				
te	temperature of the slices with				
	ichloromethane				
	npregnation in E12/E1 resin-				
m	nix (vacuum kettle)				
	uring preparation by				
	andwich technique				
Day 14 C	uring at 45ºC (318K) in the				
0	ven				
	pen sandwich and separate				
re	esin layer (with adhered foils)				
	om glasses).				
Day 18 Sa	awing individual slices from				
	ne resin layer, retiring				
	dhered foils, identification				
	nd numbering of the slices.				
-	nage-processing of the slices				
	y high resolution scanning				
(2	2400 dpi)				

\* Slices can be preserved on the third acetone bath indefinitely. Process can be suspended at this point. Once it is resumed and degreasing starts, the rest of the procedure must follow as stated on this table.

Table 3.Summarized protocol for E12(Biodur®) epoxy slices (<1'5mm) (Modified</td>from Sora and Cook58)

Packages are stored in a freezer in cold acetone (-25°C, 248K) on their first

dehydration bath. The process of specimen preparation is illustrated in detail in Addendum III.

#### Dehydration and degreasing

Dehydration will be achieved by a freeze substitution technique. This procedure permits the substitution of "frozen" water inside the specimens by an organic solvent (acetone) to avoid the formation of crystals<sup>62</sup>. This substitution is achieved by submerging the slices in cold acetone (-25°C; 248K). Using acetone instead of ethanol minimises the shrinkage of the tissue up to four times<sup>58</sup>.

The first dehydration bath mentioned above can be developed on reused acetone, available from previous dehydration baths, as long as it has a concentration above 90%. Concentration of available acetone can be easily determined with an acetometer once a sample of it is warmed to calibration temperature (20°C; 293K). At least once every 24 hours slices must be moved from side to side inside their bath, to remove trapped air bubbles and to avoid a double-phased solution which would compromise the dehydration of the lower slices of the tray.

After 72 hours, the slices will be transferred to a new (second) 100% cold-acetone bath. Transfer must be performed quickly to avoid drying of the slices. This procedure will be repeated after 72 hours (third bath). It is important to keep stirring the acetone every 24 hours to obtain an optimal product.

The third bath must last at least 72 hours, but slices can be preserved at this stage indefinitely. If the procedure needs to be interrupted (for instance to coordinate with other procedures) it needs to be done at this point of the technique.

Once the third bath is complete, it is brought to room temperature to start de degreasing process. Although rising the temperature could lead to an increased shrinkage ratio<sup>40</sup>, low temperature has been reported as detrimental to final slices' transparency, due to incomplete defatting<sup>60</sup>. Lipid removal is essential to achieve a defined and quite transparent slice. Slices will be transferred to a methylene chloride (dichloromethane; CH<sub>2</sub>Cl<sub>2</sub>) bath. This liquid is denser than acetone and slices tend to float on it. Nonreactive weights had to be used to maintain the slices submerged. This reactive works as a strong lipid remover. It is hazardous so it must be kept and handled

in a ventilated hood with strict measures for personal security<sup>63</sup>. Personal protective equipment was used (gas-masks with carbon filters for air-suspended particles). Degreasing takes at least three days, although some studies mark a duration of one or even two<sup>61</sup> weeks depending on the width of the slices and their lipidic content<sup>64</sup>.

#### Forced impregnation

Forced impregnation consists on exchanging the solvent the tissue is soaked in (acetone and dichloromethane) with the resin mixture that will permit plastination itself. For this procedure, BIODUR<sup>®</sup> E12 epoxy resin was used, proportionally mixed with an amine hardener (BIODUR<sup>®</sup> E1) (E12:E1; 96:26 p.b.w) (**Table 4**). Mixture must be prepared in a ventilated hood using a disposable bucket. Still in the ventilated hood, the dehydrated and degreased slices are transferred from the methylene chloride bath to the pail containing the E12/E1 mixture. Grids tend to float, so nonreactive weights need to be used to maintain the slices completely immersed.

Transparentation mixture

E12, epoxy resin (96 p.b.w); E1, catalyst (26 p.b.w)
a. 96 +26 = 122
b. E12 = 96/122x100= 78'7%
c. E1=26/122x100=21'3%
d. For example, to prepare 1000 g of E12:E1 mixture (96:26 p.b.w.) will correspond 78'7% of
1000g (787g of E12) and 21′3% of 1000g (213g of E1)
The two mixtures used on this project:
Mixture A – E12:E1 (4009:1116 g – 78'22:21'78 %)
Mixture B – E12:E1 (4158:1165 g – 78'13:21'87 %)

**Table 4.** Procedure to calculate the components proportions to mixture (Modified from Vargas, Baptista, del Sol *et al.*<sup>65</sup>)

In order to permit the reagents' exchange, solvents must be extracted from the tissue. To avoid heating the preparations, what could damage them, a vacuum system is used. The bucket containing the slices completely submerged in the resin-mix is covered with a holed film and introduced inside the vacuum kettle, which will be covered and sealed with a glass port. At room temperature, dichloromethane has a boiling point (vapour pressure) of 375mmHg and acetone has it at 175mmHg<sup>66</sup>. Therefore, at -0'50 bar (375mmHg equals 0'5 bar) bubbles should appear, as MeCl starts to evaporate into the resin and then extracted through the pump exhaust. The objective is to low pressure down to 20-30mmHg. This process takes around seven to ten hours. In the

first two hours, -0'8 bar (150mmHg) pressure is achieved gradually. At this point, mainly big bubbles will be observed, corresponding to the air from the tissue or trapped between the slices. Solvents' bubbles are smaller than air bubbles<sup>58</sup>. The impregnation process is mainly monitored by the observation of these bubbles. Our experience indicates that the vacuum can be stopped when pressure has been constant at 15 mmHg for at least one hour and bubbles stop appearing or when bubbling is reduced notably<sup>64</sup>. At this point, the kettle is returned to atmospheric pressure and the pail is brought to a wider spot for the next step of the procedure.

#### Curing

Last stage of preservation is curing (hardening) of the preparations. The technique we used (sandwich method) is quite messy so it is recommended to cover the work place with removable foil, and use adequate protection for hands and forearms (E12/E1 mixture irritates the skin and can lead to a weeks-lasting rash).

In this casting method, slices will be trapped between plastic foils that will shape and flatten the resin around the slice. To do so each slice is processed individually. A plastic foil (acetate) will be disposed over a bottom glass plate, and above of the former slices will be laid with a separation of at least two centimetres between them. Resin mixture from the bucket will be spooned under and over every slice, and a second plastic foil will cover the first layer. At this point, trapped air must be removed from the slices manually using a spatula. It is important to avoid trapped bubbles over the slice, as they will appear as artefacts on the final product.

The second layer of slices starts immediately over a third plastic foil, which will be covering a second glass plate. Each slice is equally covered with spooned resin and covered again with the next plastic foil. This way, the 'sandwich' is constituted bottom to top: bottom glass – plastic foil – slices (covered with resin) – plastic foil – glass plate – plastic foil – slices (covered with resin) – plastic foil – glass plate – plastic foil – slices (covered with resin) – plastic foil – glass plate slices (covered with resin) – plastic foil – glass plate – plastic foil – slices (covered with resin) – plastic foil – glass plate – plastic foil – ... – slices (covered with resin) – plastic foil – top glass. Up to five slices layers can be disposed per sandwich stack. Once it is finished, the whole block will be wrapped in plastic foil and a weight will be put on top of it, to maintain a uniform pressure over the slices and to permit exceeding resin to slowly flow out the slices layers.

19

The sandwich block is kept at room temperature for 24 hours and after this time it has to be brought into the oven for 72 hours at curing temperature (45°C; 318K)

#### Scanning the slices

Regardless of the kind of resin used, it tends to yellow as time goes by<sup>67</sup>. Once the slices were obtained, they were scanned at high resolution (2400dpi) with a scanner EPSON Perfection V800photo. This allows not only preserving the original colour of the slices, but also permits an up-close study of the images and provides the basis for other techniques such as 3D-reconstruction.

#### Results

For a better understanding of our findings, results will be exposed following the structures mentioned in our main objectives, this being the lateral collateral ligament (LCL), the popliteus tendon (PT), the popliteofibular ligament (PFL) and the midthird lateral capsular ligament (mLCL).

#### Lateral collateral ligament (fibular collateral ligament)

The LCL unites the lateral epicondyle of the femur with the lateral aspect of the fibular head, lateral and distal to its apex. Its upper insertion extends proximally and anteriorly and covers part of the lateral femoral epicondyle in a fan-like fashion. Except for its insertions, it presents a cylindrical shape.

The LCL belongs to the deep layer of the PLC's anatomy. However, our findings illustrate a strong relationship with the tendon of the long head of the biceps femoris. At its insertion, the biceps femoris' tendon branches off around the LCL (**Figure 9**) defining two different kinds of fibres, superficial to the LCL and profound to it. The deepest fibres of the tendon are inserted directly onto the superior aspect of the head of the fibula, whereas the superficial portion embraces exteriorly the LCL at its distal end, before inserting independently onto the fibula's head. This way the tendon of the long head of the biceps femoris finds its insertion on the posterior aspect of the superior aspect of the fibula's apex and the head. The disposition of the tendon on its insertion encloses the specific site of attachment of the distal end of the lateral collateral ligament.

At its proximal portion, the LCL has a close relationship with the articular capsule and it is difficult to differentiate from it by macroscopic or microscopic dissection. Coronal section (**Figure 10**) permits the distinction of the ligament from the capsule mainly at its distal portion, but we cannot identify both structures accurately at their proximal end.

Serial axial cuts facilitate the study of the division of the biceps femoris' tendon as it approaches to its fibular attachment (**Figure 11**) and their disposition around the lateral collateral ligament.





**Figure 9** – Lateral view of a left knee showing the biceps femoris (BF) insertion and how it embraces the lateral collateral ligament (LCL). Superficial fibres of the tendon (BFs) cover the ligament while the deep fibres (BFd) are directly inserted onto de fibula's (Fi) head. Note how in C the BFs have been sectioned at a proximal point, and have been retired, so the dorsal aspect of the sectioned tendon is exposed. CPn: common peroneal nerve; PT: popliteus tendon; ITT: iliotibial tract; PLm: peroneus longus muscle.

Figure 10 - image corresponding to a coronal section of the LCL PLC using E12 (Biodur®) technique. The lateral collateral ligament (LCL and black arrows) can be differentiated from the capsule (Cp) or the midthird lateral capsular ligament on its inferior half by the externalisation on the path of its fibres. Note how the capsule bends in the opposite direction to attach to the fibula (enlarged on B). Both elements appear to be touching. This might be explained by the shrinkage and the loss of adipose tissue due to the defatting process. Fe: femur; Ti: tibia; Fi: fibula. LCL Ti Cp

**Figure 11** – (next page) Images corresponding to axial sequential sections (proximal-distal) of the PLC by E12 (Biodur<sup>®</sup>) technique. They show in detail the distal insertion of the lateral collateral ligament (LCL) and the long head of the biceps femoris' tendon (LHBF) from proximal to distal (A-I). The area occupied by the LHBF is signalled with black arrows and the path of the LCL appears circled. Note how the fibres of the LHBF separate in order to surround the LCL. The insertion is not fully seen in these axial cuts because of the obliquity of the fibres at this point. Ti: tibia; Fi: fibula.



















Popliteus muscle and popliteus tendon



**Figure 12** – lateral vision of a left knee, illustrating the popliteus tendon as seen at its entrance into the capsule, deep to the LCL. The gastrocnemius (Gst) is set aside to show the connections between the popliteus tendon (PT) and the capsule (Cp). Fe: femur; Fi: fibula.

The PM has its origin proximal to the soleal line, at the posterior aspect of the tibia. It describes a craneo-lateral path to insert onto the lateral epicondyle of the femur, anterior to the LCL. lts tendinous portion goes intracapsular shortly after its musculotendinous junction and attaches to the femur while maintaining a narrow relationship with the capsule (or the synovial membrane, our dissection (Figure 12) is unable to tell apart one structure from the other). Therefore, the tendon is kept covered by capsular ิล reinforcement, while its deep aspect can relate to the synovial membrane.

Axial cuts of the PT at its intracapsular path show the

tight relationship between the structure and the articular capsule (**Figure 13**). The most external aspect of the tendon seems to be attached to the capsule or directly covered by it, whereas its intern aspect faces the synovial space. Therefore, the PT is surrounded by connective tissue, this being compatible with the capsule itself (externally) and the synovial membrane (internally).



**Figure 13** – serial axial cuts of a left knee disposed proximal to distal (A-C) at tibial plateau (TP) level (caudal vision). Connective tissue around the popliteus tendon (PT) is independent from the one surrounding and limiting the lateral meniscus (LM). The popliteus tendon attaches to the capsule and may be covered by synovial membrane at its inner aspect

As it is bundled up by connective tissue, the presence of tendinous fibres attaching directly to the meniscus should be dismissed. The same axial cuts evidence a complete independence of the PT from the meniscus, showing no connection between both

structures and, even more, they emphasise a virtual space in-between, allegedly containing synovial fluid. Nevertheless, at some point (**Figure 13-A**) undetermined tissue can be described between both structures, it being morphologically different from both the PT and the LM.

This tissue is also reported in the coronal section, which permits identifying the presence of a structure between the PT and the LM (**Figure 14**). These might correspond to fibrous tissue or the synovial membrane itself, but image shows it shouldn't be considered part of the tendon. We could not identify any "meniscal origin" for the popliteus tendon, but we evidence the presence of loose connections between the PT and the LM presumably through capsular or synovial fibres.



**Figure 14** – coronal slice of a right knee that shows an existent relationship between the popliteus tendon (PT) and the lateral meniscus (LM). Despite not attaching directly to the meniscus, horizontal fibres of connective tissue (black arrows) relate the popliteus tendon to it. Ti: tibia; AC: articular cartilage.



#### Popliteofibular ligament

The popliteofibular ligament (PFL) includes those fibres that attach both on the popliteus muscle tendon and the fibular head (**Figure 15**). We have identified two fascicles shaping the popliteofibular ligament: one of them, anterior and superficial to the PT, which is narrow and even tubular-like in one of the specimens. The other one, posterior and deep to the PT, describes a trapezoid that covers a wider region of both the musculotendinous junction of the popliteus and the fibular head.

The posterior-deep fascicle is difficult to differentiate from the capsule when both structures approach the fibula's head. The observation by microsurgical stereoscope illustrates how the capsule goes under the popliteus muscle without directly attaching to it, whereas both fascicles of the popliteofibular ligament originate from the musculotendinous junction itself (**Figure 16**).

The position and disposition of the PFL hamper its study by gross dissection when we try to describe the ligament without modifying the position of its surrounding elements, as it is covered by the popliteus muscle practically in its whole. Sectional anatomy permits the unaltered anatomical study of the ligament. Detailed study of the images corresponding to anatomical sections processed with E12 (Biodur<sup>®</sup>) indicates the origin of the PFL at the musculotendinous junction of the popliteal muscle (**Figure 17**). It can be observed how its fibres have their origin along the zone of gradual transformation of the popliteus muscle to its tendon. Coronal sections, on the other hand, were useful to demonstrate the ligament's width, in addition to allowing a precise description of the insertion onto the fibula's head, at the medial aspect of the apex (**Figure 18**).



The popliteofibular ligament (black arrows) has its origin on the musculotendinous junction of the popliteus muscle (PM). It attaches distally, on the fibular head (Fi). Two components (anterior and posterior) can been described. On B, the popliteus muscle has been reflected proximally from its insertion in the tibia (Ti) showing both origin and end of the ligament and its two components (enlarged on C). LCL: lateral collateral ligament; PT: popliteus tendon.

Ti


**Figure 16** – posterolateral vision of a right knee. In this image part of the capsule has been dissected to show the complete pathway of the popliteus tendon (PT). The antero-superficial fascicle of the PFL (black arrow) is narrower than the postero-deep fascicle (pdF). In A, the popliteus muscle (PM) is being retracted to show both fascicles of the popliteofibular ligament and the capsular attachment onto the fibular head. Note how in B this capsular attachment (Cp) goes under the popliteus (desinserted and reflected) but does not attach to it. The capsule will cover the popliteus tendon and presumably attach to it, but it does not do so at this distal extra-capsular part of the muscle. Both in B and C the antero-superficial fascicle is retracted to show its independence from the postero-deep fascicle. LCL: lateral collateral ligament; BF: biceps femoris (sectioned and retracted); Fi: fibula; Fe: femur; LM: lateral meniscus





**Figure 17** – image corresponding to an axial section of the PLC using E12 (Biodur®) technique, left knee, distal face. The popliteofibular ligament (red arrow heads) can be seen following the posterior aspect of the tibia (Ti) to connect the fibular head (Fi) and the popliteus. Note how there seems to be fibres of the ligament that attach to the muscular belly (PM) of the muscle whereas other fibres tend to the tendon (PT).



**Figure 18** – image corresponding to a coronal section of the PLC using E12 (Biodur®) technique, right knee. The popliteofibular ligament (PFL) follows the same direction of the popliteus tendon (PT). Fi: fibula; Ti: tibia.



#### Midthird lateral capsular ligament

Microdissectional study of the lateral aspect of the articular capsule unveiled a thickening of it with a vertical disposition. Dissection technique has not allowed us to identify if it corresponds to an independent structure from the capsule. Our dissection is unable to distinguish between the capsule and the midthird lateral capsular ligament, although it evidences the relationship between the capsule (or the ligament) and the lateral meniscus at its mid-third (**Figure 19**). Study by axial E12 sheet plastinated slices presents the existence of a tight relationship between the capsule and the lateral meniscus (**Figure 20**) that we locate in a coronal posterior plane from the mLCL's, as we also observed in the macroscopic dissection.



Figure 19 - gross dissection of the intraarticular aspect of the knee. Note how the whole preparation has been sectioned in a sagittal plane and only the lateral aspect is preserved. The anterior cruciate ligament (ACL) has been sectioned and moved away to permit the vision of the interior of the articulation. The anterior aspect of the lateral condyle of the femur (Fe) has also been sectioned to clear up the vision of the relationship between the meniscus (LM) and the capsule (Cp). Although we assume it is also in this portion, the mLCL cannot be described in this figure. Ti: tibia; PT: popliteus tendon

Nonetheless, a detailed study of E12 (Biodur®) plastinated coronal sections (Figure 21) evidenced the presence of a structure that, although related with the capsule, stays independent from it. We have observed that the mLCL follows the capsule and attaches independently to the lateral aspect of the meniscus and to the tibia, at the posterior aspect of the lateral tibial condyle. Detailed observation of the ligament following the path of the capsule leads to its femoral insertion (Figure 22). The mLCL reaches a recess onto the posterolateral aspect of the lateral epicondyle, which also holds the insertion of the popliteus tendon and the lateral collateral ligament. At its femoral origin, the mLCL seems to merge with the capsule and traverse the lateral aspect of the articulation independently to attach to the tibia, leaving on its wake attachments to the lateral meniscus. Nevertheless, close inspection (Figure 22-C) evidences a difference between the mLCL and the capsule both in colour and consistence that can be followed up to their respective insertions onto the femur. This structure, if independent of the capsule, could be defined as a deep or tibial lateral collateral ligament, considering its depth position respect to the lateral collateral ligament and the capsule. This observation could only be performed based in the coronal cuts, probably due to the disposition and narrowness of the ligament.

Figure 20 - this axial cut of a left knee evidences connective tissue (black arrows) between the capsule (Cp) and the lateral meniscus (LM). This image is clearly posterior to the location described for the midthird lateral capsular ligament, and so we cannot assure these fibres are compatible with it. Nevertheless, we decided to point out this adhesion site of the capsule to the posterior horn of the lateral meniscus. Connective tissue at this location could be described as an independent menisco-capsular attachment. PT: popliteus tendon; Ti: tibia; Sm: soleus muscle





**Figure 21** – serial coronal cuts disposed anterior to posterior (A-C) at the lateral meniscus (LM) level. The enlargement shows the existence of connective tissue that follows the capsule (Cp) deeply to it and attaches to the meniscus and the tibia (Ti) (attachments signalled with black arrows). Note how the popliteus tendon (PT) attaches to the femur (Fe) inferiorly to the attachments of the capsule and the fibres compatible with the midthird lateral capsular ligament (mLCL) (as it is intracapsular). Image C shows another structure, not to be confused with de mLCL or the capsule, which is the LCL, as it courses to the head of the fibula (see Figure 9 for enlargement).





**Figure 22** – this figure is an enlargement of Figure 19-A. This image demonstrates the attachments (black arrows) of the midthird lateral capsular ligament (mLCL) to the lateral meniscus (LM) and tibia (Ti), but also to the femur (Fe) at its proximal end. In addition, both a difference can be perceived between the mLCL and the capsule (Cp) regarding to the disposition of their fibres. Close inspection permits to observe that although they appear to be touching, the midthird lateral capsular ligament and the capsule maintain independent paths and different composition.



#### Discussion

In a 2019 editorial sent to *Annals of Joint*, Sun *et al.* considered the possibility of introducing a variation in an anatomical surgical reconstruction of the PLC of the knee<sup>68</sup>. They defended that their population of study would benefit of this variation, as there could be anatomical differences between Caucasian and Asian anatomy that could justify a modification of the reconstruction technique previously proposed by LaPrade *et al*<sup>15</sup>. In addition, they pointed out some differences between LaPrade's original anatomical description<sup>69</sup> and the dissections presented in an article published in the cited journal<sup>70</sup>. Nevertheless, the most interesting consideration of the editorial is its initial question: "*Is anatomy of the posterolateral corner* [of the knee] *always the same?*". This is only one of the examples of the relevance of the topic, and evidences the actual need of research (and even more, anatomical investigation) that is still considerably notorious regarding the PLC of the knee. When the disagreements on the specific topics of study are analysed, the possibility of variations within the examined populations should be kept in mind, but maybe and more likely there could be a technical hitch on the techniques of the studies.

The majority of the goals proposed for this study had been already subject of other investigations. Thus, results derived from it will hardly define new statements, whereas a modification onto previous considerations could be implied. For a better understanding of the discussion, each of the sub-objectives will be assessed individually:

**Lateral (fibular) collateral ligament (LCL):** relationship between the LCL and the biceps femoris muscle's tendon at its distal insertion has been a matter of study due to its particular structure and disposition. In 1983 DeLee *et al.* determined that the fibular collateral ligament and the biceps femoris shared the same insertion onto the fibular head<sup>21</sup>. This statement confronted the previous definition of a two-portioned biceps femoris' insertion, described by Sneath in 1955<sup>71</sup>. DeLee's definition has been maintained and some sources are still using it for the disclosure of the distal LCL-biceps femoris' insertion<sup>72,73</sup>. Nonetheless, results of other investigations call into question these conclusions. Terry and Laprade avoid defining both insertions as common<sup>74</sup>. Shin

36

*et al.* proposed a classification of the variants of the insertion of the biceps femoris and LCL at its distal end, even depicting a type in which the LCL would not have any direct attachment to the fibular head<sup>75</sup>.

In the present study we did not assess all the possible variations described by Shin, but we can affirm that the relationship between the LCL and the biceps femoris tendon does not limit to forming a common insertion structure. Both of them keep independent from each other up to their insertion onto the fibula's head. The biceps femoris muscle's tendon could in fact be reinforcing the LCL's distal attachment defining a coffin that surround the distal third of the LCL.

**Popliteus tendon (PT):** Tria *et al.* considered inconstant the previously assumed attachment of the PT to the lateral meniscus (LM)<sup>76</sup>. Cohn *et al.* described fibrous tissue between the popliteus and the meniscus as two popliteomeniscal fascicles, being the anterioinferior and the posterosuperior, which define the popliteal hiatus. This structure is understood as a pathway for the PT from the tibia to its femoral attachment<sup>77</sup>. These attachments or fascicules could explain the indirect relationship between the popliteus tendon and the lateral meniscus, as the interconnection would not depend on fibres of the PT itself.

In order to contribute to the possible relationship with a *per se* intrasynovial structure (this being the LM), some authors have studied the PT's relationship with the capsule and the synovial space, reaching the conclusion of considering the PT as an intracapsular but extrasynovial structure<sup>23,78</sup>. Nevertheless, although our dissections could not specify the tendon's relationship with the synovial membrane, E12 (Biodur®) sheet plastination technique permitted to indicate that the PT maintains an own fibrous sheath, and so it is kept apart from the lateral meniscus. This variation was studied by Kurtoglu *et al.* and presented in a paper that concluded that the PT should not always be considered extrasynovial, as the synovial membrane was reported to form a rail for the PT in some of the specimens they observed, or even to cover the tendon completely<sup>79</sup>. This anatomical variation could justify the differences reported in the popliteo-meniscal attachments.

Popliteofibular ligament (PFL): back in 1994 Maynard et al. presented a structure that, as stated on their article, had been previously omitted from literature and required to be redefined and rediscovered<sup>17</sup>. This was the first time the PFL was reintroduced and accepted by the scientific society, and the recent description of the ligament was stated. It recovered the original description by Higgins in 1895, considering the PFL as a division of the PT itself (fibular origin of the popliteus)<sup>26</sup>. Our results, based in coronal E12 (Biodur<sup>®</sup>) sheet plastinated slices (Figure 18), make it easy to understand why, as thickness of the PFL can be compared to the PT itself. At the same time, Watanabe et al. studied the structures of the posterolateral corner and specified that the popliteus had a "double origin" on the fibula's head<sup>29</sup>, what we can nowadays understand as a first description of a double-fasciculate structure, being it compatible with the PFL. A more recent study performed by Ishigooka et al. which included 78 knees determined a frequent anatomical variation that permitted classifying the PFL in two types, depending on whether it was composed by a single layer (Type I) or by two layers (Type II)<sup>30</sup>. This second or shallow layer has been considered and studied by some authors<sup>69,80,81</sup> and rejected and neglected by others<sup>24,79</sup>. Our anatomic laminar study cannot contribute in this discussion, as the sample analysed was damaged at this point (as seen in Figure 8). Nevertheless, by microdissectional study of the region we could expose the existence of two differentiated fascicles. Both of them take their origin in the musculotendinous junction of the popliteus muscle. The postero-deep fascicle was observed to be thicker and presumably stronger than the antero-superficial one.

**Midthird lateral capsular ligament (mLCL):** or as previously named in this paper "deep lateral collateral ligament" or "tibial lateral collateral ligament" according to our results. Urban *et al.* studied the supposed constancy of two reinforcing elements of the lateral aspect of the knee: the anterolateral ligament, which would reinforce the capsule at its anterolateral corner, and the lateral meniscotibial ligament, as a constant anchoring of the meniscus to the lateral tibial condyle<sup>82</sup>. They concluded that the so-called anterolateral ligament was nothing else than an aponeurotic attachment of the iliotibial tract or the short head of the biceps femoris muscle, whereas there existed in fact a lateral meniscotibial ligament. This statement proposed a relevant change to the known description, as some authors had considered the meniscotibial and the

meniscofemoral ligaments as part of the anterolateral ligament<sup>28,83–85</sup>. We have considered useful to bring forth this existing controversy about the anterolateral ligament for a reason. Vincent *et al.* made an interpretation of the anterolateral ligament (depicted in **Figure 2**) that resembles remarkably the distribution of fibres of the mLCL seen in **Figures 21 and 22** presented in our results. Taking into account that the most anterior aspect of this reinforcement has been denied as a ligament by itself by some authors<sup>86,87</sup>, the conceptual representation could be depicting in fact the midthird lateral capsular ligament described by LaPrade<sup>88</sup>, which could actually be considered to be composed by a menisco-tibial portion and a femoro-tibial one. The same conclusion was reached by Farhan *et al.* but the other way round, as they kept the anterolateral terminology and considered imprecise LaPrade's nomenclature<sup>89</sup>.

Nevertheless, the tibial lateral collateral ligament should not be considered only as a thickening of the capsule, independent of which name is more accurate according to its insertions and function. A meta-analysis performed by Pomajzl *et al.* concluded that the anterolateral ligament was an individual ligamentous structure located anterolaterally in the knee after comparing 13 studies from an original poll of  $342^{90}$ . Its histological composition was studied in 2015 by Caterine *et al.* They came to the conclusion that the histological structure was compatible with ligamentous tissue, rather than fibrous-connective tissue, and so it had to be differentiated from the joint capsule<sup>91</sup>. They also bring back the term "lateral capsular ligament" coined originally by Campos *et al*<sup>92</sup>.

On the other hand, different approaches have been proposed in order to simplify the region anatomy. Masferrer-Pino *et al.* include the structure in a menisco-tibio-popliteus-fibular complex, studying the anatomy focusing on the meniscus and defining its attachments and connections<sup>31</sup>. This complex would include the intricate system of capsular thickenings and tendinous attachments that maintain the meniscus in place while permitting its sliding mechanism, essential for the articular movement. Although it definitely is an original idea and helps understanding the function of the posterolateral structures, if separated anatomical elements can be defined they should be studied independently. However, understanding the menisco-tibio-popliteus-fibular complex as a functional association which would avoid lateral meniscal extrusion at

the end of the joint's flexion is useful indeed and revisits the "popliteus complex" description by Rosas *et al*<sup>6</sup>.

Our results stick to the concept of a structure related to the capsule but independent from it that follows continuously an intracapsular path attaching onto the femur and the tibia, and from which an attachment sprouts to the lateral meniscus.

### Limitations of the study and future directions

Maybe the most important pitfall of this study is its sample value. One could inquire how could a study based only in two specimens (n=2) represent any improvement, or even change, on the current knowledge of the posterolateral corner. E12 sheet plastination is a long and expensive technique, which is not accessible for most of the clinical-anatomical research teams at a national level. This technique is protocoled on the Material and Methods section of this project. Lectors will be able to identify some differences between the protocol here presented and the one proposed by Sora and Cook<sup>58</sup>. Changes applied to the protocol had been previously considered and come from the experience of the research team. Shortening the times as presented on this paper does not affect the final quality of the slices and fastens considerably a per se long-time consuming procedure. Using only two specimens in this study will provide a new approach of the







Axial cut showing both femur epicondyles.





Axial cut showing both meniscus and the anterior aspect of the tibia





Axial cut showing the tibia and fibula's relationship

**Figure 23** – 3D reconstruction permits a reliable understanding of structures using superposition of E12 slices. Sectional cuts of the reconstruction are offered at different levels (a-c) to display the possibilities of the technique. Left knee, caudal vision (CT-like).

posterolateral structures, and maybe will encourage other research teams to perform a large scale study based on this first description, but will not establish any anatomical *dogma*, and it is not intended to. This study should not be included in any metaanalysis regarding the posterolateral aspect of the knee.

Nevertheless, the sample proposed in this study is not as negligible as it seems. In 2018 Ottone *et al* published a systematic review<sup>64</sup> that compiled all the studies published to that date which included E12 sheet plastination on their methodologies. A comparison of the sample values is offered below (**Table 5**). E12 sheet plastination has been mainly used as an addition or as complementary investigation in the majority of projects. This fact explains the publication of experimental projects that include 1, 2 or 3 samples only on their protocol. In addition, larger samples are found in studies focused on smaller anatomical areas, unlike the anatomical region we have studied. However, the present project aims to be continued, and the sample value will be likely increased in coming revisions of the same (both micro-dissected knees and E-12 sheet-plastinated ones). Main value of this study remains on its novelty (on the area studied) and sets the bases for a wider investigation including a larger sample value.

The technique itself has its own limitations. Cuts performed "blindly" can easily damage target structures, or they can go unnoticed if the orientation of the slice does not fit the anatomical disposition of the specimen. To overcome this drawback, some authors go for performing the slices after the samples undergo an image diagnosis procedure (preferably MRI)<sup>93–95</sup>. Because of its high cost, it would only be recommended if additional image-based results are aimed. Another limitation of the technique (hence, of the study) is the impossibility of recovering a slice once it has been damaged. Samples can be damaged during slicing, cleaning or even during the plastination process itself. Once a slice is spoiled, it cannot be replaced by a slice from other specimens, as each preparation is sequential and has a close relation with previous and next slices. To minimise the effect a badly-performed technique could have onto the pieces, we started slicing way above the site of interest (about ten centimetres above the patella) to ensure the technique was being performed correctly once the site of interest was reached. Again, E12 plastination is an expensive

technique, so it would only be recommended to expand the treated area if resulting cuts can be used in other or additional investigations.

On the other hand, gross and microscopic dissection techniques are not without limitations. While E12 sheet plastination preserved original disposition of the seen structures (two-dimensionally), cadaveric dissection implies intrinsically a distortion or disruption of local tissues. In addition, it is technician-depending and it depends on the investigator experience, so some structures can go unseen or even removed from the

Johnson <i>et al</i> (2000) <sup>96</sup>	spinal connective tissue	n = 1	44 cross sectional slices
Nash <i>et al</i> (2005) <sup>97</sup>	posterior atlanto-occipital	n = 13	unstated number of 2'5mm slices
	interspace		
Zhang and Lee (2002) <sup>98</sup>	cervical fascia	n = 5	unstated number of 2'5mm slices
Chen <i>et al</i> (2012) <sup>99</sup>	cricothyroid joint cavity	n = 4	
Liu <i>et al</i> (2013) <sup>100</sup>	cricoarytenoid joint cavity	n = 16	
Bernal-Mañas (2016) <sup>93</sup>	lateral pterygoid muscle	n = 4	unstated number of 3 mm slices
Porzionato <i>et al</i> (2005) <sup>101</sup>	rectourethralis muscle	n = 4	unstated number of 2-3 mm slices
Macchi <i>et al</i> (2008) <sup>102</sup>	longitudinal anal muscle	n = 4	unstated number of 2-3 mm slices
Al-Ali <i>et al</i> (2009) <sup>103</sup>	anal sphincter complex	n = 2	unstated number of 2'5 mm slices
Sebe <i>et al</i> (2005) <sup>104</sup>	female external urinary sphincter	n = 28	ultrathin technique
1/2012) <sup>105</sup>	complex (foetal)		
Kaulhausen <i>et al</i> $(2012)^{105}$	interspinous spacer	n = 1	unstated number of 4 mm slices
Sora and Genser-Srobl (2004) <sup>106</sup>	ankle syndesmosis	n = 20	20 (1'6 mm) slices per specimen
Koslowsky <i>et al</i> (2011) <sup>107</sup>	vascular architecture of the radial head	n = 15	unstated number of 4 mm slices (secondary slice plastination)
Koslowsky <i>et al</i> (2015) <sup>108</sup>	vascular supply of the proximal ulna	n = 11	unstated number of 4 mm slices (secondary slice plastination)
Fristsch (1996) <sup>109</sup>	connective tissue structures in	n = 7-	unstated number of 3-4 mm slices
(1990)	the hindfoot	14	(secondary slice plastination)
Sora <i>et al</i> (2007) <sup>110</sup>	three-dimensional reconstruction	n = 1	ultrathin technique - unstated number of
	of the ankle		1 mm slices
Sora <i>et al</i> (2008) <sup>39</sup>	posteromedial neurovascular bundle of the ankle	n = 12	unstated number of 1'5 mm slices
Sora <i>et al</i> (2012) <sup>111</sup>	computer aided three- dimensional	n = 1	ultrathin technique – unstated number of 1'6 mm slices
	reconstruction/modelling of the pelvis		of 1 6 min silves
Wegmann <i>et al</i> (2012) <sup>112</sup>	impact of posterior tibial nail malpositioning	n = 3	unstated number of 3-4 mm slices
Rath <i>et al</i> (2009) <sup>113</sup>	hallucal sesamoids	n = 15	unstated number of 2-5mm slices (secondary slice plastination)
Rath <i>et al</i> (2009) <sup>114</sup>	microvascular anatomy of metatarsal bones	n = 15	unstated number of 4 mm slices (secondary slice plastination)
Windish and Wiglein (2001) <sup>115</sup>	synovial sheaths in the talocrural region	n = 5	unstated number of 2 cm slices followed by 0'2mm slicing by diamond saw
Faymonville <i>et al</i> (2012) <sup>116</sup>	compartments of the foot	n = 12	secondary slice plastination
Oppermann <i>et al</i> $(2012)^{117}$	microvascular anatomy of the		secondary slice plastination (3-4 mm)
	talus	n = 2	secondary slice plastination (2'6-3 mm)
Table E Sample value (n) in	1		arding musculoskolotal tissue in humans

Sample value (n) in existing E-12 sheet plastination studies regarding musculoskeletal tissue in humans

**Table 5** – Sample value (n) in existing E-12 sheet plastination studies regarding musculoskeletal tissue in humans. Complete list can be consulted on the review by Ottone  $et al^{64}$ , except from the n value, which has been looked up in every publication individually. Notes stating 'secondary slice plastination' refer to a different technique in which the slices are performed on a previously plastinated specimen.

piece by mistake if the person performing the dissection is not used to the technique. Nevertheless, serial photography of each dissection plane minimises irreversible distortion, as the dissection proceeds down to deeper levels.

In our study, lack of time has been an important drawback. Although having spent weeks in the preparation of the dissected specimens, increasing the sample of this project would (and will) require months of work.

As cited on the introduction, they are many the studies that develop threedimensional reconstruction based on E12 laminar preparations<sup>48,111</sup>. The study here presented does not include 3D reconstruction on its Results, as it was not an objective of it in the first place. Nevertheless, we considered enriching for the lector or future investigators on the topic to present a very simple sample of what can be achieved by 3D reconstruction (**Figure 23**). This reconstruction has been made using Adobe Photoshop CC 2019<sup>57</sup>, and consists simply on a superposition of all the slices, what provides a reliable reconstruction of the original sample. More precise and selective three-dimensional reconstruction can be achieved using WinSurf package from SURFdriver software©, and has been used for this purpose before<sup>111,118,119</sup>.

#### Conclusions

- E12 sheet plastination is indeed a technique with a beneficial impact and permits delving deep into the anatomical study of the posterolateral aspect of the knee.
- 2. The *lateral collateral ligament* (LCL) is embraced at its distal end by the tendon of the *long head of the biceps femoris muscle*, which bifurcates around the LCL without attaching to it. Both structures do not merge and they keep an independent insertion onto the fibula's head.
- 3. The *popliteus tendon* (PT) goes intracapsular but stays extrasynovial, what prevents it to attaching directly to the *lateral meniscus*. Nevertheless, connective tissue is reported in a transverse disposition from the synovial cover of the PT to the lateral aspect of the LM.
- 4. The *popliteus muscle* shows fibrous connections to the cranial aspect of the fibula's head. This *popliteofibular ligament* showed two fasciculi: a short and thick postero-inferior fascicle and a thin and long antero-superior one.
- 5. There exists a structure that follows the capsule at its inner aspect, and attaches to the lateral epicondyle of the femur and the lateral aspect of the tibia, with a sprouting connection to the lateral meniscus. This tissue is compatible with the *midthird lateral capsular ligament*, the *anterolateral ligament* or, as we present it, a *deep or tibial lateral collateral ligament*.

#### Bibliography

- 1. LaPrade RF. History of the Nomenclature and Study of the Anatomy of the Posterolateral Knee. In: Gumpert E, editor. Posterolateral Knee Injuries [Internet]. First. New York: Thieme Medical Publishers, Inc.; 2006 [cited 2020 Nov 1]. p. 9–49. Available from: https://musculoskeletalkey.com/history-of-the-nomenclature-and-study-of-the-anatomy-of-the-posterolateral-knee/
- Covey CDC. Injuries of the posterolateral corner of the knee. J Bone Jt Surg Ser A [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2020 Aug 12];83(1):106–18. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/jbjsjournal/Fulltext/2001/01000/Injuries\_of\_the\_Posterolate ral\_Corner\_of\_the\_Knee.15.aspx
- Bozkurt M, Elhan A, Tekdemir I, Tönük E. An anatomical study of the meniscofibular ligament. Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2020 Jul 27];12(5):429–33. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00167-003-0450-z
- Crespo B, James EW, Metsavaht L, LaPrade RF. Injuries to posterolateral corner of the knee: a comprehensive review from anatomy to surgical treatment. Rev Bras Ortop (English Ed [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Jan 20];50(4):363–70. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4563052/
- 5. Minowa T, Murukami G, Suzuki D, Uchiyama E, Kura H, Yamashita T. Topographical histology of the posterolateral corner of the knee, with special reference to laminar configurations around the popliteus tendon: A study of elderly Japanese and late-stage fetuses. J Orthop Sci [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2020 Jul 27];10(1):48–55. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00776-004-0848-6
- Rosas HG. Unraveling the posterolateral corner of the knee. Radiographics [Internet].
   2016 [cited 2020 Oct 7];36(6):1776–91. Available from: https://pubs.rsna.org/doi/full/10.1148/rg.2016160027
- 7. International Anatomical Nomenclature Committee. Nomina anatomica rev. by the International Anatomical Nomenclature Commitee appointed by the fifth International Congress of anatomists held at Oxford in 1950 [Internet]. Submitted to the sixth International Congress of anatomists held in Paris in July, 1955: Baltimore: Williams & Wilkins; 1956. Available from: https://catalog.hathitrust.org/Record/101654048
- Last RJ. The Popliteus Muscle and the Lateral Meniscus. With a note on the attachment of the medial meniscus. J Bone Joint Surg Br [Internet]. 1950 [cited 2020 Nov 1];32-B(1):93–9. Available from: https://online.boneandjoint.org.uk/doi/abs/10.1302/0301-620X.32B1.93
- 9. Fulkerson JP, Gossling HR. Anatomy of the lateral retinaculum of the knee. J Bone Jt Surg - Ser B [Internet]. 1980 [cited 2020 Nov 1];153:183–8. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/15750314\_Anatomy\_of\_the\_Knee\_Joint\_La teral\_Retinaculum
- 10. Larsen MW, Toth A. Examination of posterolateral corner injuries. J Knee Surg [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2020 Oct 7];18(2):146–50. Available from: https://www.thieme-connect.com/products/ejournals/abstract/10.1055/s-0030-1248173

- 11. Hughston JC, Jacobson KE. Chronic posterolateral rotatory instability of the knee. J Bone Jt Surg [Internet]. 1985 [cited 2020 Oct 7];67(3):351–9. Available from: https://www.jbjs.org/reader.php?id=88002&rsuite\_id=502944&native=1&source=The\_ Journal\_of\_Bone\_and\_Joint\_Surgery/67/3/351/abstract&topics=kn#info
- Fanelli GC, Feldmann DD. Management of combined anterior cruciate ligament/posterior cruciate ligament/posterolateral complex injuries of the knee. Oper Tech Sports Med [Internet]. 1999 [cited 2020 Nov 1];7(3):143–9. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S1060187299800112
- Chahla J, Moatshe G, Dean CS, LaPrade RF. Posterolateral Corner of the Knee: Current Concepts. Arch Bone Jt Surg [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2020 Jan 18];4(2):97–103. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC4852053/
- Seebacher JR, Inglis AE, Marshall JL, Warren RF. The structure of the posterolateral aspect of the knee. J Bone Jt Surg [Internet]. 1984 [cited 2020 Aug 12];64(4):536–41. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/jbjsjournal/Abstract/1982/64040/The\_structure\_of\_the\_post erolateral\_aspect\_of\_the.8.aspx
- LaPrade RF, Johansen S, Wentorf FA, Engebretsen L, Esterberg JL, Tso A. An analysis of an anatomical posterolateral knee reconstruction: An in vitro, biomechanical study and development of a surgical technique. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2020 Oct 7];32(6):1405–14. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0363546503262687
- Kang KT, Koh YG, Son J, Kim SJ, Choi S, Jung M, et al. Finite Element Analysis of the Biomechanical Effects of 3 Posterolateral Corner Reconstruction Techniques for the Knee Joint. Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Oct 7];33(8):1537–50. Available from: https://www.arthroscopyjournal.org/article/S0749-8063(17)30178-0/fulltext
- Maynard MJ, Deng X, Wickiewicz TL, Warren RF. The Popliteofibular Ligament. Rediscovery of a Key Element in Posterolateral Stability. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Sep 7];24(3):311–6. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/036354659602400311
- Sinnatamby CS. Last's Anatomy, Regional and Applied. In: Horne T, Bowes J, editors. Lower limb Part one Anterior compartment of the thigh [Internet]. 12th ed. Edinburgh: Churchill Livingstone, Elsevier; 2011 [cited 2020 Nov 2]. p. 191–2. Available from: https://doctorlib.info/anatomy/lasts-anatomy-regional-and-applied/17.html
- 19. Testut L, Latarjet A. Tomo Primero. Libro II: Artrología. In: Tratado de Anatomía Humana. Barcelona: Salvat Editores; 1979. p. 683–4.
- 20. Gollehon DL, Torzilli PA, Warren RF. The role of the posterolateral and cruciate ligaments in the stability of the human knee. A biomechanical study. J Bone Jt Surg Ser A [Internet]. 1987 [cited 2020 Nov 2];69(2):233–42. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/jbjsjournal/Abstract/1987/69020/The\_role\_of\_the\_posterola teral\_and\_cruciate.10.aspx
- 21. Delee JC, Riley MB, Rockwood CA. Acute posterolateral rotatory the knee instability of the knee. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 1983 [cited 2020 Oct 19];11(4):199–207. Available from: https://journalst.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/036354658301100403?url\_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr\_id=ori:rid:crossref.org&rfr\_dat=cr\_pub Opubmed

- 22. Salmons S. Músculos del musclo y de la región glútea. In: Williams PL, editor. Gray's Anatomy (Spanish Version). 38th ed. Harcourt; 1998. p. 879.
- Jadhav SP, More SR, Riascos RF, Lemos DF, Swischuk LE. Comprehensive review of the anatomy, function, and imaging of the popliteus and associated pathologic conditions. Radiographics [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Aug 28];34(2):496–513. Available from: https://pubs.rsna.org/doi/10.1148/rg.342125082
- Zeng S-X, Wu G-S, Dang R-S, Dong X-L, Li H-H, Wang J-F, et al. Anatomic study of popliteus complex of the knee in a Chinese population. Anat Sci Int [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2020 Oct 19];86:213–8. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s12565-011-0112-z
- 25. Benninger B. Knee. In: Standring S, editor. Section 9: Pelvic Girdle and Lower Limb, from Gray's Anatomy: The Anatomical Basis of Clinical Practice. 41st ed. Elsevier Limited; 2016. p. 1383–99.
- Higgins H. The popliteus muscle. J Anat Physiol [Internet]. 1895 [cited 2020 Sep 26];29 (Pt 4):569–73. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1328401/pdf/janatphys00102-0099.pdf
- Veltri DM, Deng XH, Torzilli PA, Maynard MJ, Warren RF. The role of the popliteofibular ligament in stability of the human knee: A biomechanical study. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Sep 10];24(1):19–27. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/036354659602400105
- 28. Vincent JP, Magnussen RA, Gezmez F, Uguen A, Jacobi M, Weppe F, et al. The anterolateral ligament of the human knee: An anatomic and histologic study. Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Sep 9];20(1):147–52. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00167-011-1580-3
- Watanabe Y, Moriya H, Takahashi K, Yamagata M, Sonoda M, Shimada Y, et al. Functional anatomy of the posterolateral structures of the knee. Arthroscopy [Internet]. 1993 [cited 2020 Sep 7];9(1):57–62. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0749806305803445
- Ishigooka H, Sugihara T, Shimizu K, Aoki H, Hirata K. Anatomical study of the popliteofibular ligament and surrounding structures. J Orthop Sci [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2020 Oct 19];9:51–8. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00776-003-0733-8
- Masferrer-Pino A, Saenz-Navarro I, Rojas G, Perelli S, Erquicia J, Gelber PE, et al. The Menisco-Tibio-Popliteus-Fibular Complex: Anatomic Description of the Structures That Could Avoid Lateral Meniscal Extrusion. Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Sep 26];36(7):1917–25. Available from: https://www.arthroscopyjournal.org/article/S0749-8063(20)30233-4/fulltext
- 32. Laprade RF, Glenn C. Injuries to the posterolateral aspect of the knee. Association of anatomic injury patterns with clinical instability. Am J Sport Med [Internet]. 1994 [cited 2020 Sep 9];25(4):433–8. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/036354659702500403?url\_ver=Z39.88-2003&rfr\_id=ori:rid:crossref.org&rfr\_dat=cr\_pub Opubmed

- Dombrowski ME, Costello JM, Ohashi B, Murawski CD, Rothrauff BB, Arilla F V., et al. Macroscopic anatomical, histological and magnetic resonance imaging correlation of the lateral capsule of the knee. Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2020 Oct 7];24(9):2854–60. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1741-4520.2009.00225.x
- Claes S, Vereecke E, Maes M, Victor J, Verdonk P, Bellemans J. Anatomy of the anterolateral ligament of the knee. J Anat [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2020 Oct 7];223(4):321–8. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/joa.12087
- 35. Natsis K, Paraskevas G, Anastasopoulos N, Papamitsou T, Sioga A. Meniscofibular Ligament: Morphology and Functional Significance of a Relatively Unknown Anatomical Structure. Anat Res Int [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Oct 7];2012:1–5. Available from: https://www.hindawi.com/journals/ari/2012/214784/
- 36. Terry GC, LaPrade RF. The posterolateral aspect of the knee: Anatomy and surgical approach. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Sep 9];24(6):732–9. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/036354659602400606
- Geeslin AG, Moulton SG, LaPrade RF. A Systematic Review of the Outcomes of Posterolateral Corner Knee Injuries, Part 1: Surgical treatment of acute injuries. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Nov 2];44(5):1336–42. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0363546515592828
- Moulton SG, Geeslin AG, Laprade RF. A systematic review of the outcomes of posterolateral corner knee injuries, part 2: Surgical treatment of chronic injuries. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2020 Nov 2];44(6):1616–23. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/full/10.1177/0363546515593950
- Sora MC, Jilavu R, Grübl A, Genser-Strobl B, Staykov D, Seicean A. The Posteromedial Neurovascular Bundle of the Ankle: An Anatomic Study Using Plastinated Cross Sections. Arthrosc - J Arthrosc Relat Surg [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2020 Sep 26];24(3):258.e1-258.e7. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0749806307008419
- 40. Sora MC, Brugger PCB, Strobl B. Shrinkage During E12 Plastination. J Int Soc Plast [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2020 Aug 21];17(January 2004):23–7. Available from: http://journal.plastination.org/archive/jp\_vol.17/jp\_vol.17\_23-27.pdf
- 41. Hagens G, Tiedemann K, Kriz W. Anatomy and Embryology Review article The current potential of plastination \*. Anat Embryol (Berl) [Internet]. 1987 [cited 2020 Aug 27];175:411–21. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/BF00309677
- 42. Lane A. Sectional Anatomy: Standardized Methodology. 1990 [cited 2020 Oct 15];4:16–
  22. Available from: http://journal.plastination.org/archive/jp\_vol.04/jp\_vol.04\_1622.pdf
- 43. Steinke H. Plastinated body slices for verification of magnetic resonance tomography images. Ann Anat [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2020 Aug 27];183(3):275–81. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S094096020180234X
- Elnady F, Sora MC. Anatomical exploration of a dicephalous goat kid using sheet plastination (E12). Congenit Anom (Kyoto) [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2020 Oct 15];49(2):66–70. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1741-4520.2009.00225.x

- 45. Thomas M, Steinke H, Schulz T. A direct comparison of MR images and thin-layer plastination of the shoulder in the apprehension-test position. Surg Radiol Anat [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2020 Oct 15];26(2):110–7. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00276-003-0193-z
- De Barros N, Rodrigues CJ, Junqueira AJQ, De Germano MAN, Cerri GG. The value of teaching sectional anatomy to improve CT scan interpretation. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2020 Oct 15];14(1):36–41. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/1098-2353%28200101%2914%3A1%3C36%3A%3AAID-CA1006%3E3.0.CO%3B2-G
- 47. Lozanoff S, Lozanoff BK, Sora MC, Rosenheimer J, Keep MF, Tregear J, et al. Anatomy and the access grid: Exploiting plastinated brain sections for use in distributed medical education. Anat Rec Part B New Anat [Internet]. 2003 [cited 2020 Oct 15];270(1):30–7. Available from:

https://anatomypubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/ar.b.10006

- 48. Adds PJ, Al-Rekabi A. 3-D Reconstruction of the Ethmoidal Arteries of the Medial Orbital Wall Using Biodur<sup>®</sup> E12. J Plast [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Oct 17];26(2):5–10. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/281406170\_3-D\_Reconstruction\_of\_the\_ethmoidal\_arteries\_of\_the\_medial\_orbital\_wall\_using\_Biod urR\_E12
- Sha Y, Zhang SX, Liu ZJ, Tan LW, Wu XY, Wan YS, et al. Computerized 3D-reconstructions of the ligaments of the lateral aspect of ankle and subtalar joints. Surg Radiol Anat [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2020 Oct 17];23(2):111–4. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00276-001-0111-1
- 50. Qiu MG, Zhang SX, Liu ZJ, Tan LW, Wang YS, Deng JH, et al. Three-Dimensional Computational Reconstruction of Lateral Skull Base with Plastinated Slices. Anat Rec -Part A Discov Mol Cell Evol Biol [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2020 Oct 17];278(1):437–42. Available from:

https://anatomypubs.onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/ar.a.20023

- Qiu MG, Zhang SX, Liu ZJ, Tan LW, Wang YS, Deng JH, et al. Plastination and computerized 3D reconstruction of the temporal bone. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2003 [cited 2020 Oct 17];16(4):300–3. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ca.10076
- 52. The Federative International Committee for Scientific Publications (FICSP) of the IFAA. Recommendations of good practice for the donation and study of human bodies and tissues for anatomical examination [Internet]. Available from: https://www.ifaa.net/recommendations/
- 53. S.A.E. Acta de Madrid 2015. Facilities and environment of a modern dissection room. Eur J Anat [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Nov 2];19(Suppl. 1):Suppl.1 1-52. Available from: http://www.eurjanat.com/web/issue-contents.php?volume=19&issue=S1
- 54. University of Girona. Donating your body to science [Internet]. [cited 2020 Aug 17]. Available from: https://www.udg.edu/en/fm/Facultat/Donacio-del-cos-a-la-Ciencia
- 55. Chahla J, Sanchez G, Moatshe G, Richards A, Van Der Walt CJ, Pascual-Garrido C. Vascular Coloration for Anatomical Study of the Pelvis and Hip: Implications in Hip Preservation Surgery. Arthrosc Tech [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Aug 18];6(1):e133–6. Available from: https://www.arthroscopytechniques.org/article/S2212-6287(16)30151-7/fulltext

- 56. Klop AC, Vester MEM, Colman KL, Ruijter JM, Van Rijn RR, Oostra RJ. The effect of repeated freeze-thaw cycles on human muscle tissue visualized by postmortem computed tomography (PMCT). Clin Anat [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Aug 18];30(6):799–804. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1002/ca.22917
- 57. Knoll T, Narayanan S, Williams R, Lincoln-Owyang J, Erickson A, Mak I, et al. Adobe Photoshop CC [Internet]. Windows. Adobe; 1990. p. (version 20.0.7, 2019). Windows. Adobe. Available from: https://www.adobe.com/es/products/photoshop.html?gclid=CjwKCAiAv4n9BRA9EiwA 30WNDzbb0HCD7-XLO1zIDiAz4eUyumnepznOVDMgki0TcI3X766NdyOvWhoCTAYQAvD\_BwE&sdid=8DN85 NTQ&mv=search&ef\_id=CjwKCAiAv4n9BRA9EiwA30WNDzbb0HCD7-XLO1zIDiAz4eUyumnepznOVDMgki0TcI3X766NdyOvWh
- 58. Sora M-C, Cook P. Epoxy Plastination of Biological Tissue: E12 Technique. J Int Soc Plast [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2020 Aug 12];22:31–9. Available from: http://journal.plastination.org/archive/jp\_vol.22/jp\_vol.22\_31-39.pdf
- 59. Fasel J, Mohler R, Lehmann B. A technical note for improvement of the E12 technique. J Int Soc Plast [Internet]. 1988 [cited 2020 Aug 21];2(1):4–7. Available from: http://journal.plastination.org/archive/jp\_vol.02.1/jp\_vol.02.1\_04-07.pdf
- Cook P, Al-Ali S. Submacroscopic Interpretation of Human Sectional Anatomy using Plastinated E12 Sections. J Int Soc Plast [Internet]. 1997 [cited 2020 Aug 21];12(2):17– 27. Available from: http://journal.plastination.org/archive/jp\_vol.12.2/jp\_vol.12.2\_17-27.pdf
- An P-C, Zhang M. A technique for preserving the subarachnoid space and its contents in a natural state with different colours. J Int Soc Plast [Internet]. 1999 [cited 2020 Aug 21];14(1):12–7. Available from: http://journal.plastination.org/archive/jp vol.14.1/jp vol.14.1 12-17.pdf
- Parthasarathy M V. Freeze-Substitution. In: Galbraith DW, Bohnert HJ, Bourque DP, editors. Methods in Cell Biology [Internet]. Academic P. New York: Elsevier Inc.; 1995 [cited 2020 Aug 24]. p. 57–69. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0091679X08614466
- 63. Yang N. Dichloromethane. In: Encyclopedia of Toxicology: Third Edition. Elsevier Inc.; 2014. p. 99–101.
- Ottone NE, Baptista CAC, Latorre R, Bianchi HF, Del Sol M, Fuentes R. E12 sheet plastination: Techniques and applications. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Aug 12];31(5):742–56. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/320715340\_E12\_Sheet\_Plastination\_-\_\_\_\_Techniques\_and\_Applications
- 65. Vargas CA, Baptista CAC, del Sol M, Sandoval C, Vásquez B, Veuthey C, et al. Development of an ultrathin sheet plastination technique in rat humeral joints with osteoarthritis induced by monosodium iodoacetate for neovascularization study. Anat Sci Int [Internet]. 2020 [cited 2020 Aug 27];95(2):297–303. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs12565-019-00500-7

- 66. Pereira-Sampaio MA, C von Horst, BPS Marques-Sampalo, H Smodlaka, L.A. Favorito, F.J.B Sampaio RH. Theoretical considerations and preliminary studies on alcohol as an intermediary solvent. In: 13th International Conference Abstract published on Journal of International Society for Plastination [Internet]. 2006. p. 27–8. Available from: http://journal.plastination.org/archive/jp\_vol.21/jp\_vol.21\_21-38.pdf
- Latorre R, Albors OL. Epoxy Impregnation without Hardener : To Decrease Yellowing , to Delay Casting , and to Aid Bubble Removal. J Int Soc Plast [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2020 Oct 19];17:17–22. Available from: http://plastination.org/journal/archive/jp\_vol.17/jp\_vol.17\_17-22.pdf
- Sun L, Lin DE, Zhao J. Is anatomy of the posterolateral corner always the same? Ann Jt [Internet]. 2019 [cited 2020 Oct 19];4(18). Available from: http://aoj.amegroups.com/article/view/5012/html
- 69. LaPrade RF, Ly T V., Wentorf FA, Engebretsen L. The Posterolateral Attachments of the Knee. A Qualitative and Quantitative Morphologic Analysis of the Fibular Collateral Ligament, Popliteus Tendon, Popliteofibular Ligament, and Lateral Gastrocnemius Tendon. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 2003 [cited 2020 Jul 27];31(6):854–60. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/03635465030310062101
- Franciozi CE, Kubota MS, Abdalla RJ, Cohen M, Luzo MVM, LaPrade RF. Posterolateral corner repair and reconstruction: overview of current techniques. Ann Jt [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Oct 19];3:89–89. Available from: http://aoj.amegroups.com/article/view/4756/5287
- Sneath RS. The insertion of the biceps femoris. J Anat [Internet]. 1955 [cited 2020 Oct 19];89(Pt 4):550–3. Available from: https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1244747/
- 72. Bolog N, Andreisek G, Ulbrich E, Devitt BM. Lateral Collateral Ligament (LCL) and Posterolateral Corner (PLC). In: Bolog N V., Andreisek G, Ulbrich EJ, editors. MRI of the Knee: A Guide to Evaluation and Reporting [Internet]. Springer International Publishing Switzerland; 2015 [cited 2020 Oct 19]. p. 49–64. Available from: https://link.springer.com/chapter/10.1007/978-3-319-08165-6\_4
- 73. Recondo JA, Salvador E, Villanúa JA, Barrera MC, Gervás C, Alústiza JM. Lateral Stabilizing Structures of the Knee : Functional Anatomy and Injuries Assessed with MR Imaging. Radiographics [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2020 Oct 19];20:91–102. Available from: https://pubs.rsna.org/doi/10.1148/radiographics.20.suppl\_1.g00oc02s91
- 74. Terry GC, Laprade RF. The biceps Femoris Muscle Complex at the Knee. Its anatomy and Injury Patterns Associated with Acute Anterolateral-Anteromedial Rotatory Instability. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Oct 19];24(1):2–8. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/036354659602400102
- 75. Shin YK, Ryu KN, Park JS, Lee JE, Jin W, Park SY. Biceps Femoris Tendon and Lateral Collateral Ligament : Analysis of Insertion Pattern Using MRI. J Korean Soc Magn Reson Med [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Oct 19];18(3):225–31. Available from: https://www.i-mri.org/DOIx.php?id=10.13104/jksmrm.2014.18.3.225
- Tria AJ, Johnson CD, Zawadsky JP. The popliteus tendon. J Bone Jt Surg Am [Internet].
   1989 [cited 2020 Sep 26];71(5):714–6. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/jbjsjournal/Pages/default.aspx/pages/articleviewer.aspx?yea r=1989&issue=71050&article=00011&type=abstract

- Cohn AK, Mains DB. Popliteal hiatus of the lateral meniscus. Anatomy and measurement at dissection of 10 specimens. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 1979 [cited 2020 Sep 26];7(4):221–6. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/036354657900700402
- 78. Feipel V, Simonnet ML, Rooze M. The proximal attachments of the popliteus muscle: A quantitative study and clinical significance. Surg Radiol Anat [Internet]. 2003 [cited 2020 Oct 19];25(1):58–63. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00276-002-0093-7
- 79. Kurtoglu Z, Elvan Ö, Aktekin M, Çolak M. Morphological Features of the Popliteus Tendon, Popliteofibular and Lateral (Fibular) Collateral Ligaments. Int J Morphol [Internet]. 2017;35(1):62–71. Available from: https://scielo.conicyt.cl/scielo.php?script=sci\_abstract&pid=S0717-95022017000100012&lng=en&nrm=iso&tlng=es
- Osti M, Tschann P, Künzel KH, Benedetto KP. Posterolateral Corner of the Knee: Microsurgical Analysis of Anatomy and Morphometry. Orthopedics [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2020 Oct 19];36(9):1114–20. Available from: https://www.healio.com/orthopedics/journals/ortho/2013-9-36-9/%7B72667229b4d0-4a32-915c-fb6555294e58%7D/posterolateral-corner-of-the-knee-microsurgicalanalysis-of-anatomy-and-morphometry
- 81. Thaunat M, Pioger C, Chatellard R, Conteduca J, Khaleel A, Sonnery-Cottet B. The arcuate ligament revisited: role of the posterolateral structures in providing static stability in the knee joint. Knee Surg Sport Traumatol Arthrosc [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Oct 17];22(9):2121–7. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00167-013-2643-4
- Urban S, Pretterklieber B, Pretterklieber ML. The anterolateral ligament of the knee and the lateral meniscotibial ligament Anatomical phantom versus constant structure within the anterolateral complex. Ann Anat [Internet]. 2019 Nov 1 [cited 2020 Jul 27];226:64–72. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S094096021930086X
- 83. Patel RM, Brophy RH. Anterolateral Ligament of the Knee: Anatomy, Function, Imaging, and Treatment. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Sep 9];46(1):217–23. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/0363546517695802
- 84. Toro-Ibarguen AN, Pretell-mazzini J, Perez E, Pedrajas I, Cano-Egea JM, Sanudo JR. The anterolateral ligament: a cadaveric study in fetuses. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Sep 9];30(5):625–34. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ca.22887
- 85. Van Dyck P, De Smet E, Lambrecht V, Heusdens CHW, Van Glabbeek F, Vanhoenacker FM, et al. The Anterolateral Ligament of the Knee: What the Radiologist Needs to Know. Semin Musculoskelet Radiol [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2020 Sep 9];20(1):26–32. Available from: https://www.thieme-connect.com/products/ejournals/abstract/10.1055/s-0036-1579679
- Ferrer GA, Guenther D, Pauyo T, Herbst E, Nagai K, Debski RE, et al. Structural Properties of the Anterolateral Complex and Their Clinical Implications. Clin Sports Med [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Sep 9];37(1):41–7. Available from: https://www.thiemeconnect.com/products/ejournals/abstract/10.1055/s-0036-1579679

- Kowalczuk M, Herbst E, Burnham JM, Albers M, Musahl V, Fu FH. A Layered Anatomic Description of the Anterolateral Complex of the Knee. Clin Sports Med [Internet]. 2018 [cited 2020 Sep 9];37(1):1–8. Available from: https://www.sportsmed.theclinics.com/article/S0278-5919(17)30068-6/fulltext
- LaPrade RF, Gilbert TJ, Bollom TS, Wentorf F, Chaljub G. The magnetic resonance imaging appearance of individual structures of the posterolateral knee. A prospective study of normal knees and knees with surgically verified grade III injuries. Am J Sports Med [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2020 Sep 7];28(2):191–9. Available from: https://journals.sagepub.com/doi/10.1177/03635465000280020901
- 89. Sonia Farhan PH, Sudhakaran R, Thilak J. Solving the mystery of the Antero lateral ligament. J Clin Diagnostic Res [Internet]. 2017 [cited 2020 Oct 20];11(3):AC01–4. Available from: https://www.jcdr.net/articles/PDF/9326/24656\_CE[Ra1]\_F(DK)\_PF1(MS\_DK)\_PFA(DK)\_PF2(NE\_SY\_DK).pdf
- 90. Pomajzl R, Maerz T, Shams C, Guettler J, Bicos J. A review of the anterolateral ligament of the knee: Current knowledge regarding its incidence, anatomy, biomechanics, and surgical dissection. Arthrosc J Arthrosc Relat Surg [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Oct 22];31(3):583–91. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0749806314007993

- 91. Caterine S, Litchfield R, Johnson M, Chronik B, Getgood A. A cadaveric study of the anterolateral ligament: re-introducing the lateral capsular ligament. Knee Surgery, Sport Traumatol Arthrosc [Internet]. 2015 [cited 2020 Oct 20];23(11):3186–95. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00167-014-3117-z
- 92. Campos JC, Chung CB, Lektrakul N, Pedowitz R, Trudell D, Yu J, et al. Pathogenesis of the Segond fracture: Anatomic and MR imaging evidence of an iliotibial tract or anterior oblique band avulsion. Radiology [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2020 Oct 20];219(2):381–6. Available from: https://pubs.rsna.org/doi/abs/10.1148/radiology.219.2.r01ma23381?journalCode=radiology
- 93. Bernal-Mañas CM, González-Sequeros O, Moreno-Cascales M, Sarria-Cabrera R, Latorre-Reviriego RM. New anatomo-radiological findings of the lateral pterygoid muscle. Surg Radiol Anat [Internet]. 2016 [cited 2020 Sep 26];38(9):1033–43. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00276-016-1665-2
- 94. Sora M-C, Jilavu R. Three dimensional reconstruction of a female pelvis using plastinated cross-sections Using Plastination for 3D Reconstruction. J Int Soc Plast [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2020 Oct 17];25(1):22–7. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/266779254\_Three\_dimensional\_reconstruc tion\_of\_a\_female\_pelvis\_using\_plastinated\_cross-sections\_- Using\_Plastination\_for\_3D\_Reconstruction
- 95. Beyersdorff D, Schiemann T, Taupitz M, Kooijman H, Hamm B, Nicolas V. Sectional depiction of the pelvic floor by CT, MR imaging and sheet plastination: Computer-aided correlation and 3D model. Eur Radiol [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2020 Oct 15];11(4):659–64. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s003300000561

- 96. Johnson G, Zhang M, Barnett R. A Comparison between Epoxy Resin Slices and Histology Sections in the Study of Spinal Connective Tissue Structure. J Int Soc Plast [Internet]. 2000 [cited 2020 Sep 26];15(1):10–3. Available from: http://plastination.org/journal/archive/jp\_vol.15/jp\_vol.15\_10-13.pdf
- 97. Nash L, Nicholson H, Lee ASJ, Johnson GM, Zhang M. Configuration of the connective tissue in the posterior atlanto-occipital interspace: A sheet plastination and confocal microscopy study. Spine (Phila Pa 1976) [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2020 Sep 26];30(12):1359–66. Available from: https://journals.lww.com/spinejournal/Abstract/2005/06150/Configuration\_of\_the\_Connective\_Tissue\_in\_the.4.aspx
- 98. Zhang M, Lee ASJ. The investing layer of the deep cervical fascia does not exist between the sternocleidomastoid and trapezius muscles. Otolaryngol - Head Neck Surg [Internet]. 2002 [cited 2020 Sep 26];127(5):452–4. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/abs/pii/S0194599802002279
- 99. Chen S, Wang H, Fong AHY, Zhang M. Micro-CT visualization of the cricothyroid joint cavity in cadavers. Laryngoscope [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Sep 26];122(3):614–21. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/lary.22504
- Liu M, Chen S, Liang L, Xu W, Zhang M. Microcomputed tomography visualization of the cricoarytenoid joint cavity in cadavers. J Voice [Internet]. 2013 [cited 2020 Sep 26];27(6):778–85. Available from: https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S089219971300101X
- Porzionato A, Macchii V, Gardi M, Stecco C, Parenti A, De Caro R. Histotopographic study of the rectourethralis muscle. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2020 Sep 26];18(7):510–7. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ca.20184
- 102. Macchi V, Porzionato A, Stecco C, Vigato E, Parenti A, De Caro R. Histo-topographic study of the longitudinal anal muscle. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2008 [cited 2020 Sep 26];21(5):447–52. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ca.20633
- 103. Al-Ali S, Blyth P, Beatty S, Duang A, Parry B, Bissett IP. Correlation between gross anatomical topography, sectional sheet plastination, microscopic anatomy and endoanal sonography of the anal sphincter complex in human males. J Anat [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2020 Sep 26];215(2):212–20. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/full/10.1111/j.1469-7580.2009.01091.x
- 104. Sebe P, Fritsch H, Oswald J, Schwentner C, Lunacek A, Bartsch G, et al. Fetal development of the female external urinary sphincter complex: An anatomical and histological study. J Urol [Internet]. 2005 [cited 2020 Sep 26];173(5):1738–42. Available from: https://www.auajournals.org/doi/pdf/10.1097/01.ju.0000154616.51979.da
- Kaulhausen T, Zarghooni K, Stein G, Knifka J, Eysel P, Koebke J, et al. The interspinous spacer: A clinicoanatomical investigation using plastination. Minim Invasive Surg [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Sep 26];2012. Available from: https://www.hindawi.com/journals/mis/2012/538697/
- Sora MC, Strobl B, Staykov D, Förster-Streffleur S. Evaluation of the ankle syndesmosis: A plastination slices study. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2004 [cited 2020 Sep 26];17(6):513–7. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ca.20019

- 107. Koslowsky TC, Schliwa S, Koebke J. Presentation of the microscopic vascular architecture of the radial head using a sequential plastination technique. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2020 Sep 26];24(6):721–32. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ca.21206
- 108. Koslowsky TC, Berger V, Hopf JC, Müller LP. Presentation of the vascular supply of the proximal ulna using a sequential plastination technique. Surg Radiol Anat [Internet].
   2015 [cited 2020 Sep 26];37(7):749–55. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00276-015-1476-x
- 109. Fritsch H. Sectional anatomy of connective tissue structures in the hindfoot of the newborn child and the adult. Anat Rec [Internet]. 1996 [cited 2020 Sep 26];246(1):147–54. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/%28SICI%291097-0185%28199609%29246%3A1%3C147%3A%3AAID-AR16%3E3.0.CO%3B2-P
- Sora MC, Genser-Strobl B, Radu J, Lozanoff S. Three-dimensional reconstruction of the ankle by means of ultrathin slice plastination. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2007 [cited 2020 Sep 26];20(2):196–200. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ca.20335
- 111. Sora MC, Jilavu R, Matusz P. Computer aided three-dimensional reconstruction and modeling of the pelvis, by using plastinated cross sections, as a powerful tool for morphological investigations. Surg Radiol Anat [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Sep 26];34(8):731–6. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00276-011-0862-2
- 112. Wegmann K, Burkhart KJ, Buhl J, Gausepohl T, Koebke J, Müller LP. Impact of posterior tibial nail malpositioning on iatrogenic injuries by distal medio-lateral interlocking screws: A cadaveric study on plastinated specimens. Acta Orthop Belg [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Sep 26];78(6):786–9. Available from: http://www.actaorthopaedica.be/assets/2090/15-Wegmann\_et\_al.pdf
- 113. Rath B, Notermans HP, Frank D, Walpert J, Deschner J, Luering CM, et al. Arterial anatomy of the hallucal sesamoids. Clin Anat [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2020 Sep 26];22(6):755–60. Available from: https://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/abs/10.1002/ca.20843
- 114. Rath B, Notermans HP, Franzen J, Knifka J, Walpert J, Frank D, et al. The microvascular anatomy of the metatarsal bones: A plastination study. Surg Radiol Anat [Internet]. 2009 [cited 2020 Sep 26];31(4):271–7. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00276-008-0441-3
- 115. Windisch G, Weiglein AH. Anatomy of Synovial Sheaths in the Talocrural Region Evaluated by Sheet Plastination. J Int Soc Plast [Internet]. 2001 [cited 2020 Sep 26];16(January 2001):19–22. Available from: https://www.researchgate.net/publication/267974685\_Anatomy\_of\_Synovial\_Sheaths \_in\_the\_Talocrural\_Region\_Evaluated\_by\_Sheet\_Plastination
- 116. Faymonville C, Andermahr J, Seidel U, Müller LP, Skouras E, Eysel P, et al. Compartments of the foot: Topographic anatomy. Surg Radiol Anat [Internet]. 2012 [cited 2020 Sep 26];34(10):929–33. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007/s00276-012-0982-3

- 117. Oppermann J, Franzen J, Spies C, Faymonville C, Knifka J, Stein G, et al. The microvascular anatomy of the talus: A plastination study on the influence of total ankle replacement. Surg Radiol Anat [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Sep 26];36(5):487–94. Available from: https://link.springer.com/article/10.1007%2Fs00276-013-1219-9
- 118. Alsaid B, Bessede T, Diallo D, Moszkowicz D, Karam I, Benoit G, et al. Division of autonomic nerves within the neurovascular bundles distally into corpora cavernosa and corpus spongiosum components: Immunohistochemical confirmation with three-dimensional reconstruction. Eur Urol [Internet]. 2011 [cited 2020 Oct 17];59(6):902–9. Available from:

https://www.sciencedirect.com/science/article/pii/S0302283811001631

119. Feil P, Sora M. A 3D Reconstruction Model of the Female Pelvic Floor by Using Plastinated Cross Sections. J Anat [Internet]. 2014 [cited 2020 Oct 17];1(5):1–4. Available from: https://austinpublishinggroup.com/anatomy/fulltext/Anatomy-v1id1022.php

#### Addenda

# Addendum IRequest form for body donation to science, Faculty ofMedicine, University of Girona

Addendum IIPermission and agreements with Springer Nature and<br/>Copyright Clearance Center for use of figures 1 and XX.

Addendum IIIImages of the preparations of the specimens for theE12 (Biodur®) plastination process

### Universitat de Girona Facultat de Medicina

#### UNIVERSITAT DE GIRONA - FACULTAT DE MEDICINA

#### SOL·LICITUD DE DONACIÓ DEL COS A LA CIÈNCIA:

El/la senyor/senyora	, major d'edat, domiciliat al carrer
	, codi postal
	dede

#### DECLARO:

Que en ple ús de les meves facultats mentals i per lliure voluntat, sense que hi hagi coacció per part de ningú, és la meva voluntat que després de la meva mort el meu cos sigui utilitzat amb finalitats docents i de recerca en Anatomia a la Facultat de Medicina de la UdG.

Que d'aquesta decisió n'informaré degudament als meus familiars, i/o amics, i/o al personal del centre sanitari en cas d'hospitalització, els quals quedaran encarregats de donar avís de la defunció als serveis funeraris de la població tan aviat com sigui possible.

Que se m'ha informat de que no procedeix la donació del cos en cas d'autòpsia judicial i/o diagnòstic de malalties infecto-contagioses tals com VIH, VHB, VHC, tifus, còlera o febre groga, i tuberculosi. En cas d'autòpsia diagnòstica en un servei d'anatomia patològica, el/la responsable del Servei de Donació valorarà conjuntament amb el facultatiu anatomopatòleg la possibilitat d'acceptar el cos.

Que se m'ha informat sobre la normativa i procediment del Servei de Donació del cos, de la Facultat de Medicina de la UdG, i conec i accepto:

- que la meva decisió de donar el cos, la puc revocar en qualsevol moment;
- que la Facultat de Medicina podrà deixar sense efectes la donació per motius logístics, o bé per alguns dels criteris d'exclusió;
- que la Facultat de Medicina de la UdG només es farà càrrec de les despeses del trasllat, quan la defunció s'hagi produït a la ciutat de Girona i comarques gironines;
- que les despeses addicionals (certificat de defunció i altres) aniran a càrrec de la meva família .
- que una vegada utilitzat el meu cos, el mateix Servei de Donació s'encarregarà de fer els tràmits pertinents per a la incineració de les restes.
- que per interessos de formació i/o d'investigació mèdica, el professorat mèdic del Servei de Donació del cos, pugui accedir al meu historial clínic, sol·licitant-t'ho al metge de família, o metge de l'hospital.

Signatura sol·licitant,	Signatura d'acceptació, Responsable del Servei de Donació del Cos a la Ciència,
Data:	Data:

Les seves dades personals s'incorporaran a un fitxer creat per la UdG per a la gestió d'aquest servei. En rebre la sol·licitud de donació del cos a la ciència, la Universitat de Girona entén que vostè autoritza el tractament de les seves dades amb aquesta finalitat. Les dades es tracten de forma confidencial i no es cedeixen a terceres persones excepte en els casos previstos legalment.

Les persones interessades podran exercir els drets d'accés, de rectificació, de cancel·lació i d'oposició al tractament adreçant-se a la Secretaria General de la Universitat de Girona, Pujada Alemanys, 16, 17004 GIRONA

#### Addenda

Addendum IRequest form for body donation to science, Faculty of<br/>Medicine, University of Girona

# Addendum IIPermission and agreements with Springer Nature andCopyright Clearance Center for use of figures 1 and XX.

Addendum IIIImages of the preparation of the specimens for the E12(Biodur®) plastination process

Figure 1



Description: Diagram presenting the main elements of the posterolateral corner and surrounding structures. Note how the midthird lateral capsular ligament is missing and the lateral collateral ligament has been sectioned for a better view of structures underneath. Reproduced from al<sup>17</sup> Maynard et according to conditions established by Copyright Clearance Center (RightsLink<sup>®</sup>), of Nature partner Springer publications.

Permission: Gratis Reuse

Permission is granted at no cost for use of content in a Master's Thesis and/or Doctoral Dissertation, subject to the following limitations. You may use a single excerpt or up to 3 figures tables. If you use more than those limits, or intend to distribute or sell your Master's Thesis/Doctoral Dissertation to the general public through print or website publication, please return to the previous page and select 'Republish in a Book/Journal' or 'Post on intranet/password-protected website' to complete your request.



#### Figure 2



Description: this diagram presents the position of the hypothetical anterolateral ligament, understood as a thickening of the capsule. Reprinted by permission from Copyright Clearance Center RightsLink<sup>®</sup>: Springer Nature. <u>Knee surgery, sports</u> <u>traumatology, arthroscopy</u>. Vincent *et al*<sup>28</sup>, 2012.

#### Permission: Contractual / Agreement

SPRINGER NATURE LICENSE TERMS AND CONDITIONS - Nov 01, 2020

This Agreement between Marc Franco ("You") and Springer Nature ("Springer Nature") consists of your license details and the terms and conditions provided by Springer Nature and Copyright Clearance Center.

License Number License date Licensed Content Publisher	4940320041085 Nov 01, 2020 Springer Nature
Licensed Content Publication	Knee Surgery, Sports Traumatology, Arthroscopy
Licensed Content Title study	The anterolateral ligament of the human knee: an anatomic and histologic
Licensed Content Author	Jean-Philippe Vincent et al
Licensed Content Date	Jun 30, 2011
Type of Use	Thesis/Dissertation
Requestor type	non-commercial (non-profit)
Format	print and electronic
Portion	figures/tables/illustrations
Number of figures/tables/illustrations	5 1
Will you be translating?	no
Circulation/distribution	1 - 29
Author of this SpringerNature conten	t no
Title	Anatomical description of the posterolateral corner of the knee
Institution name	Universitat de Girona
Expected presentation date	Nov 2020
Portions	Figure 3
Requestor Location	Marc Franco C/de la Creu 24, 9 A Girona, Girona 17002, Spain
Attn:	Marc Franco
Total	0.00 USD

Terms and Conditions:

#### Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH Terms and Conditions

This agreement sets out the terms and conditions of the licence (the Licence) between you and Springer Nature Customer Service Centre GmbH (the Licensor). By clicking 'accept' and completing the transaction for the material (Licensed Material), you also confirm your acceptance of these terms and conditions.

#### 1. Grant of License

- 1.1. The Licensor grants you a personal, non-exclusive, non-transferable, world-wide licence to reproduce the Licensed Material for the purpose specified in your order only. Licences are granted for the specific use requested in the order and for no other use, subject to the conditions below.
- 1.2. The Licensor warrants that it has, to the best of its knowledge, the rights to license reuse of the Licensed Material. However, you should ensure that the material you are requesting is original to the Licensor and does not carry the copyright of another entity (as credited in the published version).
- 1.3. If the credit line on any part of the material you have requested indicates that it was reprinted or adapted with permission from another source, then you should also seek permission from that source to reuse the material.

#### 2. Scope of Licence

- 2.1. You may only use the Licensed Content in the manner and to the extent permitted by these Ts&Cs and any applicable laws.
- 2.2. A separate licence may be required for any additional use of the Licensed Material, e.g. where a licence has been purchased for print only use, separate permission must be obtained for electronic re-use. Similarly, a licence is only valid in the language selected and does not apply for editions in other languages unless additional translation rights have been granted separately in the licence. Any content owned by third parties are expressly excluded from the licence.
- 2.3. Similarly, rights for additional components such as custom editions and derivatives require additional permission and may be subject to an additional fee. Please apply to Journalpermissions@springernature.com/bookpermissions@springernature.com for these rights.
- 2.4. Where permission has been granted free of charge for material in print, permission may also be granted for any electronic version of that work, provided that the material is incidental to your work as a whole and that the electronic version is essentially equivalent to, or substitutes for, the print version.
- 2.5. An alternative scope of licence may apply to signatories of the STM Permissions Guidelines, as amended from time to time.

#### 3. Duration of Licence

3.1. A licence for is valid from the date of purchase ('Licence Date') at the end of the relevant period in the below table:

Scope of Licence	Duration of Licence
Post on a website	12 months
Presentations	12 months
Books and journals	Lifetime of the edition in the language purchased

#### 4. Acknowledgements

4.1. The Licensor's permission must be acknowledged next to the Licenced Material in print. In electronic form, this acknowledgement must be visible at the same time as the figures/tables/illustrations or abstract, and must be hyperlinked to the journal/book's homepage. Our required acknowledgement format is in the Appendix below.

#### 5. Restrictions on use

- 5.1. Use of the Licensed Material may be permitted for incidental promotional use and minor editing privileges e.g. minor adaptations of single figures, changes of format, colour and/or style where the adaptation is credited as set out in Appendix 1 below. Any other changes including but not limited to, cropping, adapting, omitting material that affect the meaning, intention or moral rights of the author are strictly prohibited.
- 5.2. You must not use any Licensed Material as part of any design or trademark.
- 5.3. Licensed Material may be used in Open Access Publications (OAP) before publication by Springer Nature, but any Licensed Material must be removed from OAP sites prior to final publication.

#### 6. Ownership of Rights

6.1. Licensed Material remains the property of either Licensor or the relevant third party and any rights not explicitly granted herein are expressly reserved.

#### 7. Warranty

IN NO EVENT SHALL LICENSOR BE LIABLE TO YOU OR ANY OTHER PARTY OR ANY OTHER PERSON OR FOR ANY SPECIAL, CONSEQUENTIAL, INCIDENTAL OR INDIRECT DAMAGES, HOWEVER CAUSED, ARISING OUT OF OR IN CONNECTION WITH THE DOWNLOADING, VIEWING OR USE OF THE MATERIALS REGARDLESS OF THE FORM OF ACTION, WHETHER FOR BREACH OF CONTRACT, BREACH OF WARRANTY, TORT, NEGLIGENCE, INFRINGEMENT OR OTHERWISE (INCLUDING, WITHOUT LIMITATION, DAMAGES BASED ON LOSS OF PROFITS, DATA, FILES, USE, BUSINESS OPPORTUNITY OR CLAIMS OF THIRD PARTIES), AND WHETHER OR NOT THE PARTY HAS BEEN ADVISED OF THE POSSIBILITY OF SUCH DAMAGES. THIS LIMITATION SHALL APPLY NOTWITHSTANDING ANY FAILURE OF ESSENTIAL PURPOSE OF ANY LIMITED REMEDY PROVIDED HEREIN.

#### 8. Limitations

8.1. **BOOKS ONLY**: Where 'reuse in a dissertation/thesis' has been selected the following terms apply: Print rights of the final author's accepted manuscript (for clarity, NOT the published version) for up to 100 copies, electronic rights for use only on a personal website or institutional repository as defined by the Sherpa guideline (www.sherpa.ac.uk/romeo/).

#### 9. Termination and Cancellation

- 9.1. Licences will expire after the period shown in Clause 3 (above).
- 9.2. Licensee reserves the right to terminate the Licence in the event that payment is not received in full or if there has been a breach of this agreement by you.

#### Appendix 1 — Acknowledgements:

#### For Journal Content:

Reprinted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

#### For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj.[JOURNAL ACRONYM].)

#### For Adaptations/Translations:

Adapted/Translated by permission from [the Licensor]: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

#### Note: For any republication from the British Journal of Cancer, the following credit line style applies:

Reprinted/adapted/translated by permission from [the Licensor]: on behalf of Cancer Research UK: : [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

#### For Advance Online Publication papers:

Reprinted by permission from The [the Licensor]: on behalf of Cancer Research UK: [Journal Publisher (e.g. Nature/Springer/Palgrave)] [JOURNAL NAME] [REFERENCE CITATION (Article name, Author(s) Name), [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication), advance online publication, day month year (doi: 10.1038/sj. [JOURNAL ACRONYM])

#### For Book content:

Reprinted/adapted by permission from [the Licensor]: [Book Publisher (e.g. Palgrave Macmillan, Springer etc) [Book Title] by [Book author(s)] [COPYRIGHT] (year of publication)

#### Other Conditions:

Version 1.2

Questions? customercare@copyright.com or +1-855-239-3415 (toll free in the US) or +1-978-646-2777.

#### Addenda

Addendum I	Request form for body donation to science, Faculty of
	Medicine, University of Girona

Addendum IIPermission and agreements with Springer Nature and<br/>Copyright Clearance Center for use of figures 1 and XX.

### Addendum III Images of the preparation of the specimens for the E12 (Biodur®) plastination process



Disclaimer: all the images gathered for this addendum depict the process of E12 (Biodur<sup>®</sup>) plastination process of an elbow. The process was performed by the same team that presents this project. Due to its illustrative content and value we decided to include them as an addendum.

- a specimen frozen at -80°C (193K) is sliced using a band saw
- b slices will be 1'5mm thin (2'20mm minus 0'7mm of saw width)
- c slices are carefully obtained from the block with the help of a spatula
- d liquid nitrogen is applied to the cutting surface between slicing to keep the temperature as low as possible
- e saw dust must be removed from the slices while immersed in a cold acetone bath at -25ºC (248K)
- f packages of up to 5 slices are made up while immersed in cold acetone. Once the packages are complete they will be submerged in an acetone bucket for the dehydration process to start.

At this point the slices will be ready to proceed to the dehydration process, followed by the degreasing, curing and scanning.